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ABSTRACT

The central theme of this study is the development of communications
of the Red River Settlement by way of St. Paul from 1859 to 1870. In
1859 the interests of the Hudsonts Bay Company, the people of Red River,
and the St. Paul business men beéamé interlocked in the St. Paul route.
The thesis submitted here is that these three parties which perpetuated
trade on the St. Paul route in the decade of the 1860ts helped to pre~
serve the economic character of the relations between Red River and St.
Paul.

That each party did so in a different way and for different reasons
is further to be noted. The Hudson's Bay Company began to use St. Paul
as a commercial outlet in 1859 becaﬁserthe York Factory route was no
longer adequate to carry the whole trade of the Company at Red River.

The result was that soon the largest part of the commerce on the St. Paul
route was that of the Hudsonts Bay Company. As far as transportation
facilities were coneerned, tﬁe main contribution of the Company was its
steamboat on the Red River of the North. Furthermore, the Hudson's Bay
Company strove consciously to prevent poliﬁical relations from growing up
between Red River and St. Paul. The people of the Red River Settlement
formed the second gruup that had an interest in the St. Paul route. It is
true that the settlers and traders of Red River really led the way in the

opening of trade relations with St. Paul. This, of course, had taken
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place before 1859. As in former years, the merchants of the Settlement
‘again used Red River carts to transport their goods. However, some of
their freight was carried by the steamboat of the Hudson'!s Bay Company.
At the same time the Company frequently resorted to the ﬁse of the Red
River carts. There is little indication that the people of Red River
actively resisted political relations with Minnesota. On the other hand,
they also failed to respond to any appeals of this nature after 1859.
The fact that the Red River people were quite conscious of their being
British subjects seems to have been an important factor in the determin~
ing of this question. Thirdly, there were the St. Paul business men who
had a lively interest in the St. Paul route. This was particularly dem-
onstrated by the transportation facilities that these business men held
out to the Red River trade on part of the route. It was clear that St.
Paul and Red River were reciprocally interested in.the trans~border trade,
and from this had sprung the friendly relations between the two commnities.
Although the St. Paul merchants would nd doubt have favoured the idea of
political union of Minnesota and the British Northwest, there is little
evidence that they took any active steps to further this cause. Their
interest throughout centred mainly on the trade that St. Paul was drawing
from north of the forty=ninth parallel.

The history of the St. Paul route goes back to the begimming of the
Red River Settlement in 1812. It was not long until Iord Selkirkts
colonists recognized that the sbuthern route of the colony led to\American

settlements, from where livestock and provisions could be imported.
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Moreover, the free traders of Red River soon began to use the southern
route to carry their furs and buffalo robes to the American trading posts.
After 184) there was a marked increase in the free trade in furs at Red
River. This had partly resulted from the attempt of the Hudsonts Bay
Company to enforce its fur trade monopoly, and partly because the free
traders had easy access to the American fur trading post at Pembina. The
outcome of this free trade, especially after 1849, was that commerce
steadily developed between Red River and St. Paul. And by the 1850ts,
the merchants of Red River had become largely dependent on the tradé with
St. Paul. _

Then, in 1859, the Hudson's Bay Company together with St. Paul busi-
ness men and the Red River peoﬁle began to develop the St. Paul route.

The result was that the southern route of Red River became the main, but
not the only, line of transportation to the outside world. The York
Factory route was still kept open, and the annual ship of the Company con=
£inued to come to the shores of Hudsont!s Bay. However, the third approach
to Red River by way of Lake Superior wés to fall into disuse for most of
the decade of the 18601s.,

By 1862, the govefnor and committee of the Hudsonts Bay Company in
Iondoh considered the St. Paul route to have become esﬁablished as the
principal commercial route of the Company to and from Red River. However,
that year marked the beginning of difficulties along the southern route.
In the first place, a problem developed in regard to the transport of
freight of the Hudson's Bay Company by American contractors from St. Paul.

Second, traffic on the Sﬁ. Paul route was exposed to the danger of the Sioux
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who had risen in Minnesota in 1862. Third, the low state of water in the
Red River from 1863 to 1866 prevented regular steam navigation. By 1864
the Hudson?s Bay Company had resolved its differences with the American
contractoré inuSt. Paul, and had made new arrangements for the transport
of its goods by way of St. Paul. The Sioux menace was largely over by
1866. Moreover, after 1866 the steamboat of the Hudsonts Bay Comﬁany
again began to ply the waters of the Red. During the cdurse of these
4difficulties, the Red River carts proved to be the most reliable means

of travel and transport on the St. Paul route.

The Red River trade with St. Paul continued from 1866 to 1870. But
in these years American annexationists hoped that the economic relations
between Red River and St. Paul would be converted into a political rela-
tionship. Therefore, a second emphasis which has been introduced in
this study is the matter of American interest in Red River. In a broad
sense American interest after 1866 followed two not unrelated lines of
thought. The first idea, which was to underlie the stronger and more
lasting interest, was that commercial relations with the British Northwest
should be sought after and maintained. The second idea, which was common
to the annexationists, was that if the people of Red River desired political
union with the United States, then Americans would be only too willing to
respond to this desire. This peaceful annexationist movement, however, was
weakened by lack of support in the United States and by want of interest
in Red River. In the end the annexationists were to rely on the natural
forces of geography and the north-~south trade in the Red River valley;

perhaps these would eventually operate to bring about continental union.
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Although Red River continued to use the St. Paul route and maintained
its commercial ties with Minnesota, in 1870 the Settlement became part of
the province of Manitoba. Thus politically united to Canada, the people

of Red River began a new chapter in their history.
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THE BACKGROUND OF THE ST, PAUL ROUTE, 1812-1859



CHAPTER I

OCCASIONAL, TRAFFIC, 1812-184J

There was relatively little traffic between the Red River Settlement
and American territory to the south from 1812 to 1844, However, the
southern route was important to Red River in three main ways. First,
this route was used to import seed grain, livestock, and other settlers®
provisions from the Mississippi posts of St. Louis, Prairie du Chien,
and St. Peterts, later to be called St., Paul. Second, the free traders
of Red River ﬁsed the southern trails to carry their furs over the open
plains to thesé American trading posts. Third, the buffalo hunters of
Red River moved in a southerly direction on their annual buffalo hunts,

It was the buffalo hunt that first took the colonists south. Lord
Selkirk!s colony, founded on the forks of the Red and Assiniboine rivers
in 1812; experienced an acute shortage of food in the early years. In
these years the crops yielded only enough grain for seed, but not‘enough
for food, Each winter, therefore, from 1812 to 1819 the want of food had
caused the settlers to go seventy miles south to Pembina, located on the
junction of the Red and Pembina rivers, Here they lived on the buffalo
hunt, Then, in 1818 and again in 1819, the grain crops at Red River were
destroyed by grasshoppers, Now the settlers were not only without food,

but their seed grain, too, was gone.



To secure seed wheal, a party of colonists followed the approximate
route that Lord Selkirk had taken on his journey through American terri-
tory in 1817, At that time Selkirk thought that the Red Bivef Settlement
would be able to get supplies with greater ease by way of the Mississippi
than by the old canoe route from Canada.l The nearest American settle-
ment, with the exception of Fort Snelling, a military pést established at
the confluence of the Minnesota énd Mississippi rivers in 1819, was
Prairie du Chien farther down the Mississippi. It was at Prairie du
Chien that the settlers purchased 250 bushels of wheat in the spring of
1820, The grain was transported on three Mackinac boats up the Mississi-
ppi and Minnesota rivers and down the Red River of the North to the Red
River Settlement. The principal aim of the expedition which was to get
seed wheat had been achieved. A second outcome was that the settlers had
discovered that the Red was navigable during high water. Thus a practic-
able water route joined Selkirk's colony to the American settlements to
the sou.th.2

Land communications with the United States were also to prove
valuable to the colonists, especially because livestock could be driven
north along the Red River valley. But the route was a long one, and the

attempts to drive livestock to the Red River Settlement were to alternate

1. J.P. Pritchett, The Red River Valley, 1811-1849 (Toronto, 1942), p. 227.

2. A. Ross, The Red River Settkement: Its Rise, Progress, and Present
State (London, 1856), p. 51,
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between success and failure, Eagerly the settlers purchased the few cows
that Joseph Rolette, Sr., a former Nor!Wester, drove to the Settlement
from Prairie du Chien in 1821, But Hé}cules,Lo Dousman, another trader
at Prairie du Chien, twice failed to get all the way to Red River with
his cattle, However, in 1822 and again in 1825, enterprising American
stockmen were successful in driving cattle to the Red River Settlement
from as far as Illinois, A few years later the difficulties of the route
were further underlined when the settlers set out to stock the experimen~
tal farm of the colony with sheep, Out of over 1400 sheep bought by the
settlers in Kentucky, only 251 reached Red River in 1833.3 The other
sheep had perished on the long trip, and the trail between St. Peter's and
Red River had been marked by their carcasses. Although the trip had4
marked the death of most of the sheep, it did not mark the end of the
southern route of Red River., One of the memberé of the party that had
gone to Kentucky for sheep was Peter Hajden. From his farm at Pembina,
in later years, Hayden occasionally travelled to St. Peter'!s and thus
helped to keep the trail to the south open.h
Not only settlers, however, were interested in keeping the trails
to St. Peter's open., The Hudson's Bay Company shared this interest by
encouraging ﬁhe livestock trade ﬁith St. Peterts, The limited import and
export cattle trade that the settlers of Red River had carried on with

- Americans during the 1830's had gradually increased by 1843, This was in

3. Ibid., p. 1500

Le M. Marble, "To Red River and Beyondy;, Harper!'s New Monthly Magazine,
vol, XXI (October, 1860), no. 123, p. 582, .
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line with the instructions which George Simpson, Governor-in-~Chief of
Rupert!s Land, had received from the governor and committee of the
Hudsonfs Bay Company in London in 1841.5 It was important that the
colony.at Red River should become established, Therefore, Simpson
had been instructed to support the livestock trade,

But in the RedbRiver Settlement both the growing of grain and
stock-raising were secondary to the fur trade, the mainspring of the
economy of the Settlement, And the commercial fur route of the Hudson's
Bay Company did not run through American territory at this time;‘nor did
it pass through Canada, Afﬁer the union of the North West and Hudson's
Bay Companies in 1821, the old canoe route via Leke Superior and the ‘
St. Lawrence had all but been abandoned. Now only local brigades and
the express canoes of the Hudson's Bay Company moved along the former
NortWester route,6 a sign that tﬁe ties between Canada and the North-
wesﬁ had not been completely broken, The York Factory route by way of
Hudson's Bay had, in fact, become the only commercial outlet for the
fur trade of the Hudson's Bay Company at Red River., The Bay route, how--
ever, with its one or two ships annually, could handle no more than the
commerce of the Company and the goods imported by a few licenéed

traders,

5. J.S. Galbraith, The Hudsdn's'Bay Company As An Imperial Factor,
1821-1869 (Toronto, 1957), p. 62,

6. W.L. Mbrton; Manitoba: A History (Toronto, 1957), Pe 59.
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Nor did the Hudson's Bay Company wish to share its fur trade
monopoly with anyone besides these licenged traders, However, young
men in Red River were often attracted to the fur trade because there
was no ready market for a surplus in farm products of the river lots
and in the plain provisions of the buffalo hunt, and because it was
more profitable to trade furs with American traders than manning the
York boats of the Company. This trade carried on without a licence was
termed "illegali™ One reasoh why the Company granted licences to
certain individuals was to provide a check on the unlicensed free traders
at Red River. Of these privileged individuals, there wefe three of
particular note. In 1824 Andrew McDermot and Cuthbert Grant, the
métis leader at the "Seven Oaks Massacre®" in 1816, had each received a
special licence to trade in furs, James‘Sinclairf had obtained his
licence to trade in furs when he went into partnership with McDermot in
1827, Although these licenced free traders collected many furs from the
métis and Indians and brought them to the Hudson's Bay Company, there
were always séme furs going across the border toiPembina, or even as
far as St, Peters.

While the Hudson's Bay Company had encouraged the livestock trade
with the United Stateé, the Company did not tolerate a steady traffic in
furs with Americans. Besides licencing free traders, the Company had
used other means to slow down the tillegal" free trade. For one, through
the efforts of John Halkett, executor of the Selkirk estate, most of the
Pembina métis had been induced, in 1823, to settle on the Whitehorse

Plain some eighteen miles from Fort Garry up the Assiniboine River.



Here, under the leadership of Cuthbert Grant, they were kept loyal to
the Hudson's Bay Company, This was important because their former
presence at Pembina, which Was in American territory, had made them
potential allies for the American fur traders., Secondly, in 1833 Gover-
nor Simpson had come to an agreement with the American Fur Company where—
by this company agreed to withdraw all its frontier posts from Pembina to
Lake Superior, and receive in exchange 300 pounds sterling annually from
the Hudson's Bay Company.7 The American Fur Company had established a
post at Peﬁbina in 1829, and thus this place had become a rendezvous of
the Red River free traders. But after 1833 the greatly slackened compet-
itien of the two fur companies resulted in»discouraging the fur traffic
across the border, Thirdly, when in 1834 the sixth Earl of Selkirk re-
turned Assiniboia tothe Hudson's Bay Company, the reorganized Council of
Assiniboia immediately placed iegal restrictions on the activities of
the unlicenced free traders. In 1835 the Council placed a duty of 7%%
on Red River imports and exporﬁs. However, by 1837 the duty had been
reduced to 4%, at which it remained until 1870,

Some of the free traders who imported American goods paid this
duty; others evaded it. Despite the restrictive duties, despite the
check on the illegal free trade by the licensed free traders, particularly
Cuthbert Grant who had been appointed Warden of the Plains in 1828, and

despite the diminished competition from the American Fur Company, free

7‘ Galbl‘aith, 92. _C_j_-_‘E., p. 57.
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traders continued to take their furs to the Americans. In fact, as long
as the free trade did not become widespread, the Hudson's Bay Company
could, and did, partly overlook this slight traffic of furs into the
United States.

The annual buffalo hunt also took people from Red River into
American territory. As the buffalo hunt moved southwest to the Souris
plains and the Grand Coteau of the Missouri where the buffalo herds
could be found grazing,the hunters occasionally came in contact with
American traders. It was an opportunity, not to be missed, to trade
furs and buffalo robes for American goods. Indeed, soms of the mgtis
remained in the United St;tes and settled in such places as Prairie du
Chien and St, Peter's. Thus the m@tis at Red River had occasion to
travel to the Ameriéan séttlements‘té visit their friends and relatives.8
However, the journey was hardly ever undertaken by the géﬁig without
packing some furs and selling them to American traders.

Whereas the meeting of the buffalo hunters and the American traders
was usually a friendly one, the encounter of the hunters with the Sioux
rarely took place without some act of hostility. The Sioux were the
ancient emémies of the Cree and Saulteaux Indians from whom the Red River
half-breeds had descended. It was no wonder, then, that the half-breed
hunters, who were frequentlyvaccompanied by the Saulteaux, had a number
of skirmishes with the Sioux in whose territory the hunt took place,

The encounter between the Saulteaux and the Sioux on the banks of the

8. D. Geneva Lent, West Of The Mountains (Seattle, 1963), p. 79.




Cheyenne River in 1840 was the beginning of four years of warfare, In
1844, however, Cuthbert Grant managed to negotiate an uneasy peace with
the Sioﬁx.9 Perhaps this was one of the reasons why trade between the
Red River Settlement and St. Peter!s, which was now known as St. Paul,
began to grow in 1844, for the trails to St. Paul on the west side of
the Red River passed through Sioux lands.,

That there would be an increase in traffic to the south was, hovw—
ever, essentially marked by anothef event, This was the appearance
of Norman Wolfred Kittson of the American Fur Company in Red River in

December, 1843, and the fur trading post which he established at Pembina
in 1841,

9. M,AMacleod and W.L. Morton, Cuthbert Grant of Grantown (Toronto,
1963), p. 129. ‘



CHAPTER IL

TNCREASED TRAFFIC, 18L4~1859

The arrival of Norman Kittson at Pembina in 184/ was only one of
several factors which were operating to increase the trade of Red River
with Ste. Paul. A second factor was that the Hudson's Bay Company began
to restrict the trade of the licensed free traders,.notably Andrew
McDermot and James Sinclair, The differences which were thus caused
between the Company and these free traders were not immediately to be
resolved. Therefore, the year 184/ was to see the union of the inter—
ests of the free traders, both licgnaéd and unlicensed, with those of
Kittson at Pembina and the fur traders in St., Paul,

The interest of St, Paul in the fur country to the north had been
revived when the American Fur Companj had been reorganized by Pierre
Chouteau Jr., and Company in 1843, Chouteau had assigned the fur trade
of the Red River valley as far north as the forty-ninth parallel té
Henry Hastings Sibley, who in turn had sent his friend Kitison to take
charge of the frqntier trade at Pembina. N.W. Kitison was no newcomer
to the fur trade, Born at Chémbly, Quebec, in 1814, Kittson had been
engaged in fur trading activities since 1828, With Kitison at Pembina
was another experienced fur trader, Joseph Rolette, Jr., son of the
Joseph Relétte who had driven cattle to Red River in 1821, Kittson's
post was ideally and centrally located to draw furs from the surrouhding

country, Furs were brought to Pembina from the Red River metis to the
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north, from the Turtle Mountain area to the northwest, and from the rich
fur preserve in the Roseau River district to the northeast., The American
gold which Kittson offered foi" the furs induced the free traders of Red
River to trade at Pembina., As the Pembinab trade éxpanded, thé six Red
River carts. which had taken Kittson's first furs to St. Paul were soon
miltiplied in number. |

There were also more cart brigades from Red River on the trails to
St. Paul in 184/, This all but open trade with St. Paul brought a
sudden change in the policy of the Hudson's Bay Company towards the free
traders. In 1843 Chief Factor Finlayson fefused to renew the freight
contracts of McDermot and Sinclairf, to York Factory. Then, in 1844,
Governor George Simpson cancelled all licences of free traders and imposed
a strict supervision over all mails to and from Red River, The measure
to control the mail was soon made ineffective because the free traders
could send their letters by the Kittson express to St. Paul, Further-
more, the furs of the free traders were also taken south across the
border instead of to the Hudson's Bay Company.,

But the Company!s deiiberafe failure to renew the freight contracts
of McDermot and Sinclair- was to affect a mumber of métis as well as
these two traders. It meant that some twenty métis were now forced to
discontinue their shipments of buffalo tallow to Britain, which had

1

formerly been transported to York Factory in McDermot's boats.,™ Ancother

cause of hardship for the métis in 184 was the prairie fire that had

1, ILent, West of the Mountains, p. 171.
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driven the buffalo beyond their habitual autumn feeding grounds on the
Souris plains. .Finding themselves short of pemmican and buffalo robes,
the buffalo hunters now took to the fur trade with Americans. Thus
natural events, the proximity of Kittson's post to Red River, and the
attempt of the Company to check free trade had operated to encourage more
of the Red River people to enter the fur trade in 184L and 1845,
Furthermore, by the development of the free trade, and as a result
of being cut off from the Bay route, the Red River free traders were
committed to the exploitation of the St. Paul route. In 1844 a party
of free traders, among whom was Peter Gafrioch, opened the Crow Wing
‘I‘:t:'at:'i.l.2 The Crow Wing, or Wood s Trail ran north from St, Paul along
the Mississippi to Crow Wing Villé.ge » and then in a northwesterly
direction on the east side of the Red River through woods and over
numerous streams to Pembina. With advantages of being less exposed to
prairie fires and the Sioux, of having wood for camp sites and high
gravelly ridges for faSter travel, this trail was often preferred to the

plain road west of the Red ]River.3 v

However, the plain road, which ran
along the western slope of the Red River valley from Pembina to the
Cheyemne River thus avoiding the marshy ground near the Red River, was
also used by the carﬁ brigades to travel to St. Paul during these years.
The fur trade with St. Paul was briefly slowed down from 1846 to 1848
when the free traders were provided with a market by the troops which

had been sent to Red River in the fall of 1846. The Sixth Regiment of

2 P.AM,, G,H., Gumn, ed;,“Thé Jdurnal of Peter Garrioch," Pe L43e

3. J.C. Schultz, "The Old Crow Wing Traill, Bransactions and Procéedings
of the Historical and Scientific Society of Manitoba, 1894, no.45, p.12.
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of Foot, the Royal Warwickshires, commandedAby Major John Ffolliot
Crofton, had really been dispatched more in connection with the Oregon
boundary dispute than because of the unrest that had resulted from the
free trade movement. But the Oregon question had been settled in 1846,
Therefore, in 1848, these highly respected troops, numbering over three
hundred, were replaced by Major William B. Caldwell's fifty-six amy
pensioners from Chelsea, London. The pensioners commanded neither the
fear nor the respect of the free traders of Red River, It was little
wénder, then, that in 1849 at the Pierre Guillaume Sayer trial the
pensioners helplessly stood by to witness the mgétis win their freedom
to trade in furs.

The Hudson's Bay Company's tacit admission in 1849 that free trade
had become a reé.lity , despite Vthe monopoly of the Company, marked a
further development in the open trade with St. Paul. The development
was partly indicated by Kittson's expanded trade, much. of which was
drawn from the free traders at Red River. In 1850 :his trade required
nearly two hundred carts and the furs amounted to the value of about
twenty thousand dollafs.l" But in the same year the Company raised its
prices at Red River, and was able to get some of the furs from the
Indians and half-breeds that would have otherwise gone to Kittson at
Pembina. The trade that flowed across the border to Pembina was further
checked v&ien, in 1851, an American Customs Office was sét up there, and

Kittson was subjected to duties°5 And by 1854 the steady competition

Lo Pritchett, The Red River Valley, 1811-1849, p. 255.

5« E.E. Rich, éd., London Corféépondence Inward from Eden Colvile, 1849~
1852, with an"introduction®by W,L. Morton (Tondon, 1956), p. BIX
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 from the Hudson!'s Bay Company caused Kittson to retire to St, Paul, at
which time.Joseﬁh Rolébtte Jr. took over the Pembina post.

Despite the Company's victory over Kittson, the trade between the
Red River Settlement and‘St. Paul continued to grow. In 1857 F. G.
Johnson, Governor of Assiniboia, reported that Red River traders that
year made purchases abt St., Paul amounting to ovexnﬁé,OOO.6 The carts
which carried furs on the way down returned with such items as groceries,
dry goods, stoves, guns, and farm implements., St. Paul was, indeed,
significantly meeting the economic needs of the Red River Settlement.

At times the economic benefits derived from Americans seemed to
produce a strain on the allegiance of the Red River people to the
British Crown. But the mtis were to maintain their ties with the Hud-
son's Bay Company, which stood for the British commnection, more firmly
then their unpredictable nature tended to indicate. In 1845 the
meeting of the buffalo hunters with American cavalry south of the border
had confronted the gé&ig with this question., The Americans had told the
hunters that they must either move to Pembina and become American
citizens or else restrict their hunt to British territory. But the
buffalo hunt thereafter was not confined to British territory; nor did
the métis change their citizenship, However, when Father G.A. Belcourt!s
agitation for the constitutional rights of the half-breeds led to his

recall from the mission at Baigé St, Paul on the Assiniboine, over three

6, Archives of Hudson's Bay Company in P.A.C., (hereafter referred to
as AH,B.C.), A. 11/96, F. G, Johnson to W, G. Smith, June 29, 1857,



hundred métis followed him to his new mission at Pembina in 1848, The
movement to Pembina was accelerated-when'it was reported that the
American government was about to purchase the Pembina lands, But when,
by the Pembina Treaty of 1851, the metis were not recognized as the
rightful owners of these lands, many returned to the British side of
the lin.e.7 This treaty caused considerable disappointment and prob-
ably reminded the half-breeds of the benefits they enjoyed on British
Boilj;. it.was not, however, to disfupt the friendly relations that the
metis had established with St. Paul.

| ‘.If the Eéﬁiﬁ and the Red River free traders were grateful fﬁr the
economic connection with St. Paul, the trade relationship was no less
valued by the merchants of that frontier town. Indeed, the Red River
fur trade had been an important reason for the early growth of St. Paul,
But in later years the rapid development of St, Paul had resulted from
circumstances within the ﬁnited States. In 1850, a year after the
territory of Minnesota had been created, there were only about 150 farms
in the whole area, and the population of the territory was 6,077. But
in the 1850!'s the northwestward advance of American settlement brought
thousands of settlers to Minnesota. It was in these years that St,.
Paul experienced its first great boom; By 1858 when Minnesota became a
state, St, Paul, its capital, had become the centre of commerce for the

American Northwest, However, St., Paul business men were also eager to

7. Ross, The Red River Settlement: Lts Rise Progress and Present State,
Ppe 411412, o , AR
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hold and expand their trade with the British Northwest, which was
centred at the Red River Settlement,

That the trade between .".: Red River and St, Paul would probably
continue to develop was partly indicated by the establishment of mail
communications with the United States, By 1851 a mail route was op-
erating between Pembina and St, Paul. In 1853 the settlers at Red
River organized a monthly mail service from Fort Garry to Fort Ripley,
Minnesota., Then, in 1857, the American govermnment established a post
office at Pembina, toc which the mail was delivered once a month.8 Here
it was picked up by a mail carrier from Red River. The Kittson expi'ess,'
by which the free traders had at first secretly sent letters ,» had been
superseded by an official American mail route that was soon to serve
the whole Settlement, even the Hudson'!'s Bay Company.

The development of trade and cmﬁmications between iz Red River
and the United States was emphasized by the failure of Canadians to es-
tablish effective commmications with the Settlement., The failure,
however, was not due to a want of interest in the Northwest on the part
of Canadians, By 1856 Toronto business men had been actively planning
to secure the trade of the Northwest for their city. GCertain transport.-
abtion developments had encouraged these plans. In 1855 the Northern |
Railway from Toronto to Collingwood on Georgian Bay had been completed,

The next year the Northwestern Steamboat Company was founded to draw

8. J.Je Hargrave, Red River (Montreal, 1871), p. 100,
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trade from the West via the Upper Lakes and Collingwood, Then, in 1857,

Toronto merchants sent an expedition, led by William Kemnedy, to find

the most practicable routev from Lake Superior to the Red River Settlement
and to encourage commerce between Red River and Toronto. The same year
the Canadian govermment appointed a.n exploring expedition.i The legisla~-
ture voted £ 5,000 for the opening of communications between Canada and
Red River, and George Gladman, leader of the expedition, was instructed
to explore the territory., Kennedy was successful in creating some

interest in Red River for uhion with Canada, Gladman's party, from

1857 to 1858, through the work of its leading members , Henry Youle Hind

and Samuel J ,4 Dawson, made a significant contribution to the scientific
exploration of the Northwest. It was estimated by Dawson that the cost
of constructing a road between Lake Superior _and the Red River Settle-
ment would amount to £51,57 5.9 i But the Cartier-Macdonald government,
already struggling under financiél difficulties, could not consider
Dawson!s proposal of a Canadian road to the Northwest.

The Toronto merchants, however, continued their efforts, and on
August 16, 1858, the Northwest Transportation Navigation and Railway
Company was incqrporated, Undei‘ the leadership of William McDonnell
Dawson, brother of S. Je. Dawson, the Company planned to provide service
with its steamer, the _Ig_e_s_gg_e_, between Collingwood a.nd Fort William,

The Company also secured a mail contract from the Canadian government and

9. P.AM., ‘Papers Relative to the Exploration of the Country Between
Loake Superior and the Red River Settlement (London, 1859), De 43e
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and William Kennedy was put in charge of the mail service to Red River.
However, in 1859 Dawson was unsuccessful in raising the necessary capital
for the Northwest Transportation Navigation and Railway Company, which
in that year had been reorganized under the Nbrﬁhweéﬁ Transit ‘Company,
The Northwest Transifg\ Company experienced a further reverse when, in the
spring of 1859, Simpson ordered the Hudson's Bay Company's officers on
the Lake Superior route to give no further -help to the Cé.nadian mail
carriers, Finally, the Canadian govermment cancelled the maill contracts
of the Northwest Transit Company in the summer of 1859; the next year the
mail service to Red River was entirely discontinued. Thus by 1859 the
limited undertaking of the Northwest Transit Company had come to an end.
‘The Canadian i‘oute to Red River had nbt worked out, and the track that
S.J. Dawson's exploring expedition had cut between the Lake of the Woods
and Red Rivér was rapidly growing over from disuse.

The failure of the Canadian Toute seemed to underline what Captain
John Palliser had said earlier. Palliser, who had headed the British ex~
ploring expedition to Red River by way of St. Paul in 1857, had reported
that as far as communications were concerned the Red River Settlement
was ';more nearly connected with the United States" than to either England

or Ca.nada..l He believed that the York Factory and Fort Willlam routes

10. P.A.M., Papers Relative to the Exploration by Captain Palliser
of that Portion of British North America Which Lies Between the
Northan Branch of the River Saskatchewan and the Frontier of the
United States; and Between the Red River and Rocky Mountains

(London, 1860), p. 57. - . .
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were too difficult and expensive for settlers; therefore, the obvious
route to the Red River Settlement from Canada was through American
territory, At the same time he realized that if a practicable route
with Canada was not opened, the fact that Red River was commercially
tied to the United States could "yeb cost England a prov:I.nc:ei“,;..:L.L
However.true this might be, the decade of the 1860!'s was to see
a strengthening of these commercial bonds. The southerh route of Red
River, which had grown out of a limited livestock trade and a small
traffic in furs, had been given its first great impetus in 1844 by the
rapid growth of the free trade, Thereafter the St, Paul trails had
increasingly been used to export £he furs of free traders and to import
goods for settlers., Now in 1859, ten years before the end of the
Hudson's Bay Company rule in Rupert's Land, commerce on the St. Péu_'l.
route ﬁas to receive its second burét of growbth from the Company itself,
In this new venture of the Hudson's Bay Company, Governor George
Simpson was to play the principai role; Simpson had carefully noted
the recent railway development in the American West, And by 1859, by
which time the railway from the East had reached the Mississippi,
Simpson had already made extensive arrangements for the Hudson'!s Bay

Company'!s overland transport via St, Paul,

11, 1Ibid,
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PART 1T

THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE ST. PAUL ROUTE, 1859-1866




CHAPTER IIT

GOVERNOR ‘SIMPSON ESTABLISHES THE ST. PAUL ROUTE, 1859-1860

quernor George Simpson was to lead the way in the development of
the St, Paul route in the years 1859 and 1860, This important step was
taken at a time when St. Paul was showing new signs of interest in the
Red River region., In the first place, the St, Paul Chamber of Commerce
was interested in opening the Red River of the North to navigation,
Secondly, in these years American manifest destiny turned more pointedly
towards the British Northwest. Thus there were a number of indications
that the relations between.Minneéota and Red River might be further de-
veloped. It was little wonder, then, that in these circumstances the
small. Canadian party in Red River began to express concern for the future
of the Red River Settlement. Immediately, however, the fur trade at Red
River was to continue, And the main commercial route for the furs of
both the free traders and the Hudson's Bay Company was to be by way of
St,. Paul, |

From the outset it was evident that Simpson's knowledge of the fur
trade and his organizational ability were not being spared in establishing
the transport system via St, Paul. He had become thoroughly conversant
with the subject by communicating wiﬁh informed people in St, Paul, by
going over the ground himself, and by taking a personal part in the re-
.orgénization. Although the governor and committee in London had = ..

misgivings about some of the details of the new route, thelr consent to



proceed was always obtained following a reasonable explanation from
Simpson,

The first step had been taken in 1857 when the Hudson's Bay Compaﬁy
had made arrangements with the Treasury Department of the United States
whereby the Company!s goods couid be shipped in bond through the United
States to Red River; Then, in 1858, on an experimental basis, a small
portion of about.forty‘tons of the supplies for Red River had been sent
via Naw Yorkite St, Paul.l From here the goods had been transported on
the Company's carts to Fort Garry where they had arrived in good con-
dition, Thé London committee had been encouraged by this initial success.
However, in order that the shipments would be made on a larger scale and
the route become a permanent one, Simpson was careful to give some import-
ant reasons for this change in routes. These reasons were based on
first-hand observations,

In September, 1858, Simpson had accompanied Edward Ellice, Deputy-
Governor of the Hudson's Bay Company, to St. Paul, The main purpose of
Simpsont!s journey was ﬁo collect information as to the means and cost of
transpoft from St. Paul to Red River. On returning to his home at
Lachine, eight miles above Montreal, Simpson, in a letter to Henry Hulse
Berens, Governor of the Hudson's Bay Company, recommended the adoption

of the St. Paul route.<

1. AJH.B.C., D. 5/49, H.H. Berens to G. Simpson, April 1k, 1859,

2. Ibid., A. 12/9, Simpson to Berens, September 25, 1858,

20,



Simpson's reasons for the adoption of the new route indicated that
he had given the whole matter much thought. In the first place, the York
Factory route was no longer able to meet the increasing demands of the
Red River Settlement for foreign goods. This had arisen partly out of
the scérity of labour available for manning the York boats. The servants
of the Company found the work laborious, and the half-breed tripﬁen could
not be persuaded to undertake it without high wages., The freight
charges from York to Red River had, in recent years, increased from
twelve to twenty~eight shillings sterling per one hundred pounds of
freight. Moreover, if the Company was to be entirely dependent upon the
York route, the lack of goods would encourage American traders to supply
the Settlement by wey of Pembina. A lack of goods combined with a
shortage of provisions,especially in a year when there was a failure in
the buffalo hunt or the crops, would also create serious problems for the
Company's transport system to its posts in Rupert's Land. Finally, the
St. Paui route would save the Company interest on:the goods because the
shipment would be enroute only about three months. By the York Factory
route two years had elapsed between the date of shipment from England to
the time the goods came into use at Red River. This had resulted from
the Company!'s policy to keep a complete supply of goods in reserve at
York to proﬁide against the possible loss of the ships.

However, Simpson did not recommend that the York Factory route should
be entirely discontinued, Rather he thought that about half of the
outfits could be brought in via St. Paul to supply the Company's southern

territory, and the other half through the Bay route for the northern

2la
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districts. The Company now proposed to send from 120 to 150 tons of goods
. yvia St. Paul, This would further enable it to judge the comparative
merits of the two routes,

“Simpson's plans for the transport‘of these goods were soon underway,
By the end of March, 1859, he had completed arrangements with Hugh Alla:n
of the Canadian Mail Steamers and George Keith, general manager of the
Grand Trunk Railway Company, for the conveyance of the Company's goods.
The Grand Trunk had agreed to grant the Hudsonh's Bay Company through
bills of lading for the whole distance from Liﬁerpool to St. Paul at the
rate of twenty-eight dollars per ton.3 This served to simplify the trans-
port and to diminish the cost., At Liverpool the goods were to be shipped
on board the Canadian line of steamers to Montreal, From Montreal the
Grand Trunk became responsible for the shipments via Detroit and Milwaukee
to St, Paul., On the recommendation: of Simpson, the Hudson's Bay Company
had temporarily appointed J.C. Burbank and H.C. Burbank, préprietors of
the Northwestern Express Company, as its agents in St. Paul.

It was in St. Paul where Simpson arrived in May, 1859, that further
arrangements were made for the overland transport to the Red River
Settlement, Simpson instructed J.C. Burbank, who conducted the business
of -the Burbank Brothers with the Hudson's Bay Company, to purchase fifty
oxen. THe:carbs for these oxen were to Ee brought along by the train of

oneehundred ox-carts from Red River. ZEarly in June, when pasturage was

3. Ibid., A. 12/10, G, Keith to Simpson, March 19, 1859.
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available, was to be the time of departure of the Red River cart train
for St. Paul. In this way Simpson proceeded bto look after the necessary
details of the new route, In order to save time and expense he thought
that batteaux,craft quickly and roughly constructed, could be used to
transport some of the goods from the mouth of the Cheyenne River down
the Red River to Fort G—auc‘ry.LP The work of the cart brigades would thus
be eased, | »

'However, the navigation of the Red River of the North was already
actively being planned by the St. Paul Chamber of Commerce., In the
spring of 1859 two steamboat projects were on foolt, and competing for the
bonus of one thousand dollars offered by the St, Paul Chamber of Commerce
for the first steamboat successfully to navigate the Red River of the
North, The aim of these projects was, however, not limited to the naviga-
tion of the Red River, but to proceed through Lake Winnipeg and up the
Saskatchewan.5 Although Simpson was doubtful of:'their success, he hoped
that these and other attempts to open a highwey into the Company's
territory would not continue, The ultimate outcome of the steamboat pro-

jects underlined the doubts and'justified the hopes of Simpson. One, the

Anson Northup, while under the owner by the same name, made one successful

trip to Fort Garry and back in June, 1859. The second, the Freighter, was
to fail completely. In the summer of 1859, the Hudson's Bay Company and

J.C. Burbank jointly purchased the Anson Northup, which then was named the

Pioneer; some time later the Freighter was also jointly purchased and its

L. TIbid., A. 12/10, Simpson to T. Fraser, May 16, 1859.

5. Ibid.
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machinery was used in the new steamboat, the International. But before

Simpson had looked to the acquisition of a steamboat, he had attended to
the cart transport.

On May 18, 1859, Simpson left St. Paul and travelled to the Red
River Settlement by the Crow Wing Trail. He had taken particular note
of the country on‘the east side of the Red River. The land was well
watered and had a good timber stand and thus offered facilities for
travel. At Red River Simpson noted fhat the stores of the Company were
well stoéked with the necessary assortment of goods. Despite the fact
that the overland transport had scarcely been tested, a considerable
change had already:.taken place. For the past two or three years the Red
River free traders and the Americans on the frontier had been able to
extend their trade because of the shortage of supplies in the sales
shops of the Company. But now Simpson was impressed by the Company's
improved position, and how this was providing a check on the free tra-
ders and the Americans. One American experiencing financial difficulties
was N. We Kittson, whose store was in St. Boniface.6 Kittson, whom
Simpson considered "the most extensive and respectable of the American
traders doing business at Red Riveri". was thinking of withdrawing from
the fur trade.7 Although Kittson was hard pressed, and with him some
other free traders, the St. Paul route was really working in favour of

the free trade as well as for the Company. While the Hudson's Bay Company

6. While N.W. Kittson had been at Pembina, he had married a daughter of
M. Narcisse Marion, a French Canadian living in St. Boniface. Subse-
quent to Kittson's departure from Pembina to St. Paul in 1854, he had
established a business in St. Boniface.

See J.W. Bond, Minnesota and its Resources (New York, 1853), p. 287.

7. AJH.B.C., A. 12/10, Simpson to Gov. and Comm., June 21, 1859.
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was checking the free trade by its superior and larger stock of goods
and by its ability to outbid its opponents, it was also helping to meet
the economic needs of the Settlement by establishing better communicass
tions with St. Paul. How much Simpson, in this new venture, actually
thought in terms of the Settlement is difficult to determine, But if the
St. Paul route was gain to the Company, it had become, in the absence of
any other practicable route, a necessity to the people of Red River.
Meanwhile, Simpson had entrusted the superintendence of the over-
land transport to the experienced James McKay, brother-in-law of William
Mactavish who was now the Governor of Assinibioa., McKay was to be in
charge of a clerk, three conductors of men, and fifty drivers, each driver
looking after three carts., It was planned that the cart brigade, on
leaving the Settlement, would take the ‘outer, or plain, road on the west
side of the Red River. This trail crossed the Red River some distance
above the mouth of the Cheyenne and ran in a southeasterly course to St.
Cloud on the Mississippi, from where it was another seventy-five miles
to St. Paul, On the return trip from St. Paul the carts would be divid-
ed into detachments of fifty, each under the supervision of a conductor.
In order to avoid_confusion at the crossing of streams, of which there
were fifteen or sixteen between St. Paul and Pembina,8 the detachments
of carts should travel at a distance of one day'!s march apart.

With the plans for overland transport,undefway, and after a trip to

80 Bond., _O-E.' Cito, jo 8 3270
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Norway House, Simpson returned to St. Paul by the plain road, This trail,
he thought, would become the main route between the Red River Settlement
and St, Paul., It was on his return to St. Faul that Simpson began two
further developments to facilitate transportation along the St. Paul
route, One was the building of a cattle station and trading post at the
mouth of the Buffalo River, an eastern tributary which flowed into the
Red four miles below the Cheyenne, This post, soon to be named George-
town in honour of George Simpson, was also to become the head of
navigation on the Red River. The second development, therefore, was that
a steamboat was to ald in transporting the Company's goods to the Red
River Settlement,

Georgetown, then, was to become a half-way point between Fort Garry
and Ste. Paul. Carts would transport the Company's goods from St. Paul to
Georgetown; from here the carts and the steamboat would carry them to
Red River. Furthermore, at Georgetown the goods could be stored over
winter, In spring the wet trails, swollen streams, and little pasturage
made cart travel very diffigult. Therefore, if the supplies were kept
in storage at Georgetown, the first of these could be shipped to Red
River by steamboat on the opening of navigation., Another advantage of
the Georgetown post was its location. ZLocated on the east side of the
Red River, it had natural advantagesmpf wood for building and pasture for
the cattle. Moreover, Georgetown waé beyond the immediate reach of the
Sioux Indians whose lands were on the west side of the Red,

In order to avail the proposed establishment at Georgetown of



pasture and hay lands, as well as timber, Simpson planned to buy about
- one thousand acres of land. This land could be obtained for the
Company by means of a special‘kind of lénd warrant known as “half-breed
scrip" for between two and three dollars per acre.9 However; the title
to these American lands was to be registered, in the first place, in
Je C. Burbanks name. Burbank was then free to sell the land to any per-
son, whether citizen or alien, Because there were complications in
registering the deed in the Compény's name, Simpson was prepared to take
out the title for this land in his éwn name,lo Thus Simpson was finding
Burbank a great help in establishing the new route,

Burbank was also to enter significantly into the Hudson's Bay Com-
pany!s steamboat operations on.the Red River for which Simpsén had been
authorized to make a moderate outlay. Simpson'!s opportunity came when
Anson Northup, after making one trip to Fort Gdrxy, found that he had
exhausted all his funds in building his vessel and was now unable to run
it for want of business. It was obvious that without the freight of the

Company the Anson Northup could not be operated profitably. Because

Simpson refused to pay the rate of $1.50 per 160 lbs, which Northup was

asking, the steamboat did not have enough freight to make up a cargo,

9. A.H.B.,C., A, 12/10, Simpson to Gov. and Comm., July 18, 1859,

10. By the laws of the United States a corporation was not permitted to
hold real estate unless the names of all the stockholders were
specified in the deed. This, Simpson thought, would be very
tinconvenient! for the Hudson'!s Bay Company. Hence the lands of the
Company at Georgetown were registered in his name.,

7
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At_this point negotiations were opened with Northup. The result was
that Simpson, for the Hudson's Bay Company, and Burbank jointly pur-

. 11
chased the Anson Northup for eight thousand dollars,. For the time

being Simpson had taken the Company's share in the steamboat on his

own account because the ownership of the Anson Northup in the Company!s

name would have involved the same difficulties as the lands at George;
town, Moreover, since private parties were to be charged twice the
freight rate that the Hudson's Bay Company was to pay, the Company
would be less open to criticismiif its part-ownership of the vessel
remained unknown, According to the Simpson-Burbank agreement, the
vessel would cafry the Company's freight at the rate of $.75 per 100
lbs, for a period of five yearé.lZ However, this agreemént, which did
not receive the immediate approval of the governor and comuittee in
London, was to be re-negotiated for a more comprehensive one before the
year 1859 had.ended.

Meantime, Burbank had outfitted the Anson Northup, now called the

Pioneer, with a crew, furniture, and provisions from St. Paul.13 But

the Pioneer was to be of little service in 1859, At the beginning of

11, A.H.B.C., A. 12/10, Simpson to Gov. and Commn., July 18, 1859,
12, Ibid.

13. A.H.B.C., A. 12/10, Simpson to Fraser, October 14, 1859,
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August, the steamboat loaded with the Company's goods and on its way
lto Red River became grounded on a sandbank fofty miles below the
Cheyenne at the mouth of the Goose River, a western tributary of the
Red. The low state of the water in the river had caused the vessel
to become stranded on the Goose Rapids; this event was to be repeated
in the comming years. However, after most of the cargo of the Pioneer
had been unloaded onto the carts sent from Georgetown by James McKay,
the lightened steamboat was able to get to "..» Red River, The Pibneer
was then laid up for the winter at Lower Fort Garry, where it was to
undergo repairs.

If the steamboat experiment in 1859 was a comparative failure,
then the cart transport, under the able management of McKay, was a
success, On September 26 the last train of Red River cafts, loaded

4 By october 10 all

with English goods, left Georgetown for Red River.
the supplies from England and Lachine had reached the Settlement. The
goods purchased by the Hudson's Bay Company at St. Paul, with the ex~
ception of some sugar that waé being held over in St., Cloud, had also
arrived before winter. In all a total shipment of about 137,620 lbs.
had been transported by ﬁhe St. Paul route.l5 Similarly, the work at
the Georgetown post was proceeding in good order. Burbank had been
taking the necessary steps to secure thé land for the Hudson's Bay
Company. Under the direction of McKay, sufficient hay had béen made

for some sixty oxen that were to remain at Georgetown during the winter;

14. Ibid., A. 12/10, Simpson to Fraser, October 1k, 1859.

15, Ibid., De 5/50, William Mactavish to Simpson, December 8, 1859.
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timber had been prepared for the erection of houses and cattle sheds.
When the whole undertaking of the St. Paul route was considered, much
had been achieved. None of the supplies which had been carried through
the more than five hundred miles of uninhabited territory from St., Paul
to Red River had been lost, Of éourse, as was to be expected, the
initial expenses for the mew route were quite heavy; it was hoped,
though, that these would become less when arragements for the trans-
port system had been completed.

One of the uncompleted items, and one which was to be revised,
was the Simpson-Burbank steamboat agreement. From the past yearts
-.eXperience Simpson had learned that, if the Hudson's Bay Company”was to
take advantage of steam navigation on;the Red Rivef, the transpbrt would
have to be performed in the months of May, June, and July when the |
water was high. To achieve this; Simpson intended to draw more upon
the offered resources of Burbank,

Accordingly, on November 3, 1859, while Burbank was at Lachine,
Simpson, on behalf of the Hudson's Bay Company, and Burbank agreed to a
new contract.l6 No change had béen made regarding the former terms of
the joint ownership of the Pioneer. In essence the period of time, too,
remained unaltered, Since 6n1y‘four yéars (in terms of transport) of
of the former five-year agreement Were left, the new contract was made

for avfour~year period to be in effect quring the years 1860, 1861, 1862,

16, Ibid., A, 12/10, Simpson to Fraser, November 11, 1859.
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and 1863, The new contract had four additional terms, two to be carried
out by Burbank and two by the Company. First, Burbank agreed to trans—
port 250 tons of the Company'!s goods each year at the rate of $4.00 per
100 lbs., the sum to include all handling and storing charges from the
time Burbank received the goodé in St, Paul to the time they were de-~
livered at Fort Garry. Seconﬂ, Burbank would carry buffalo robes at
$2.00 per 100 lbs, from Fort Garry to St, Paul. Third, the Hudson'!'s Bay
Company would make J. C. Burbank an advance of five thousand dollafs in
connection with the first years transport. Lastly, the Company agreed
to provide Burbank with about 100 tons of goods from England each year
in autumn, These goods would then be taken by Burbank to Georgetown and
put into storage to be ready for transport in springf

It was clear that the terms of the new contract were designed to
make the transport by the St. Paul route as efficient as possible. More-
over, Burbank had increased his responsibility by undertaking the whole
transport from St. Paul to Red River; it followed that his expenses
would increase proportionally. Burbank estimated that the purchasing
of stock and waggons, the bridging of streams, and the improving of roads
would cost him $19,750 for the next season.17 Had the Hudson's Bay Com-
pany undertaken the whole tranéport,lﬁimpson reasoned, the ex?enses thus
incurred by it would not have been diminished as they would be if the
new contract went into force.

However, it appears that the governor and committee in Iondon had,

17, Ibid.



wqég:umu

from the first, been disposed not to favour the partnership with
Burbank, In September, 1859, the London committee had written Simpson
that the St., Paul route would likely be an aid to the transportation

of the Company!s goods. Bubt it would be more desirable for the Com-
pany to have iﬁs own agent in St. Paul., Furthermore, the joint interest
of the Hudson's Bay Company in the Pioneer with Burbank did not meet
with the full approval of the London committee, The committee felt
that, if the Pioneer would be a success, other enﬁerprising Americans
would put more steamboats on the Red and make the St. Paul route a
highway into Rupert's Land. This in turn, it was feargd, would "soon
lead to the infusion of so much Yankee blood into the Settlement as

to occasion trouble hereafter."l8 Simpson was also reminded that Bur-
bank, as the Company'!s agent, would use this position to further his
own interests,'and-at the same time gain an insight into the business
of the Company. For these reasons the governor and committee in London
were hesitant about the Company's partnership with Burbank., However,
by November, 1859, Simpson had received permission to complete the
Companyt!s joint purchase of the Pioneer with Burbank, The London comm-
ittee still urged, though, that one of the men of the Hudson's Bay
Company should be employed as the agent in St. Paul,

Despite the unwillingness of the London committee in the matter,

18, 4HiB.C., D. 5/50, W. G. Smith to Simpson, September 2, 1859.




‘Simpson had gone ahead and signed a contract with Burbank. It was done
in the hope that in the end the committee would give its consent. Butb
when the governor and committee could not be persuaded, Simpson, after
informing Burbank, requted back to London that the committee was free
to cancel the con‘bract.l9

However, Simpson was not to give in without a struggle. In the
same letter he explained once more why he had entered into the contract
with Burbank. In the i‘irst place, the arrangement with Burbank had not
beenvgone into hastily. It had been the result of careful consideratio
on the part of Simpson to secure a greater degree of efficiency and
economy in the Cqmpamy's transport gystem. One way to do this was to
employ an American contractor in St. Paul to do the work in United
States territory. According to Simpson, his views{xand those of
William Mactavish were identical on this point. Burbank would be able
to employ expérienced help, especially in St, Paul and in the steambdat
operations. The officers of the Company and the Red River half-breeds,
on the other hand, were experienced in the Indian trade but would have
to learn the new transport system. At the same time Simpson had only
praise for the services rendered by Mactavish amd McKay. Furthermore,
Burbank would be more influential than the Hudson'!s Bay Company in se~
curing military protection from the Sioux. As far as Burbank was
concerned personally, Simpson had "confidence in his‘integrity and

straight forward character."zo Simpson believed that Burbank, of vhom

19. Ibid., A. 12/10, Simpson to Fraser, December 9, 1859.

20, Ibid.
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he had recently seen a good deal, had no ulterior motives in seeking the
freight contract, As a man of capital, Burbank carried on a lucrative
business in connection with the Northwestern Express Company; it was
doubtful that he would exchange this for the fur trade. Simpson made
this long defence of the freight contract because he had been largely
instrumental in persuading the London committee to adopt the St. Paul.
route; hence his concern that the experiment should meet with success,
Whether Simpson or the London committee would be proved right in
the matter of the freight contract, only time could tell. None the
less, Simpson's letter had convinced the governor and committee, and
in December,/1859, they confirmed the contract which Simpson had made
with Burbank,?' Simpson immediately notified J. C. Burbank and Williem
Mactavish of the completed transaction. However, Simpson neglected to
send Mactavish a copy of the contract. This omission was not to be
forgotten by Mactavish, and in a few years it was to be drawn into the
difficulties wiich then arose in comnection with the St, Paul transport,
But at the mnmgnt plgns were being made to extend the transport
system by way of St. Paul. Simpson had already instructed Burbank to
purchase a second steamboat, the Freighter, which was now grounded at
the head of the Minnesota River. It was planned that the second steam-
boat would be run in conjunction with the Pioneer, Although two steam-
boats were not to navigate the Red simulbtaneously in these years, steam

navigation between Minnesota and the Red River Settlement was to

21, AJH.B.C., A. 12/10, Simpson to Fraser, December 23, 1859.
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contimie., The steamboat was also an indication of the interest of St.
Paul in Red River, and this interest was now being furthered by J. C.
Burbank.

However, there were other people in St. Paul who were interested
in the Red River Settlement in these years, Certainly the St, Paul
merchants, who were buying furs from the Red River free traders and
selling them supplies, belonged to this group.zg There were also a few
scattered Red River m€tis who had settled in St. Paul. These continued
to visit back and forth with their relatives and friends in Red River.
Of the people comnected with the government of Minhesoﬁa, it was prob-
ably James Wickes Taylor, resident of St. Paul since 1856,vwho showed
the greatgst interest in the Red River Settlement and the British
Northwest,

Taylor had assiduously collected information on the Northwest‘
while he was state librarian of Ohio, previous to his coming to St.
Paul, He soon became a recognized authority on the Northwest, and in
1857, when he published a ﬁumber of articles on that subject, he re-

23

ceived the nickname of “Saskatchewan Taylori! Taylor was also to

become interested in the railways that were plamning to project their
lines to the Northwest. In 1857 Congress had made a liberal grant of
lands to the térritory of Minnesota for the construction of railways.

The next year the state of Minnesota transferred part of this grant to

22, St, Paul Weekly Pioneer and Democrat, March 2, 1860,

23, B, L, Heilbron, "Manifest Destiny in Minnesota's Republican
Campaign of 1860," Minnesota History, XXXVII (June, 1960), De 5he




36.

“the St, Paul and Pacific Railwoad Company, and Taylor became the

Company!s sec:t*eta.x*y.ZLF

Although this railway had completed only ten
miles of track between St, Paul and St. Anthony by 18623 it was not
because Taylor had failed to give the Company publicity. As an eager
publicist for all matbers related to the opening of the‘Northwest,
Taylor, in 1859, was appointed spegial agent of the St., Paul Treasury
Department, The same year Henry H, Sibley, Governor of Minnesota, re-
quested Taylor to obtain reliable information on his visit to the Red
River Settlement concerning an overland route from Pgmbina through thei
Saskatchewan valley to the mouth of the Fraser River.

On Taylor's visit to Red River in 1859, he was impressed with the
friendliness of the people in the Settlement‘towards Minnesota. He
reported that the Red Rivér people greatly éppreciated the advgntages
of communication which they had through the state of Minnesota.25
Moreover, Taylor said, they hoped that trade would further be facili-
tated between Red River and St. Paul. In this regard the navigation
of the Red River by asteamboat in 1859 was recognized as being of
particular importance by the people of the Settlement, Taylor had
also found that informed people were willing to communicate on the gen—
eral conditions of the country., One of these informants was William

Mactavish. Later, through correspondence with Donald Gunn of Red River,

24, L. B. Ipwin, Pacific Railways and Nationalism in the Canadian-
American Northwest, 1845-1873 (Philadelphia, 1939), p. 129.

25. M.H.S., J. We Taylor, Legislature of Minnesota, Northwest British
America, and its Relations to the State of Minnesota, 1860, p. l.
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Taylor was to learn more'of the history and the conditions of soil and
climate of the Northwesto26

Taylor used the informtion he had obtained in Red River in 1859
and material from some of the latest publications on the Northwest,

such as Lorin Blodget'!s Climatology of the United States, to publicize

the development of thé Northwest. The publicity campaign was carried
on by writing and through lectures, In November, 1859, Taylor géve a
public lecture at St. Cloud, Minnesota, on the future of Minnesota as
it was related to the opening of commnnicétions with the Northwest.27
He pointed out that it was now believed that agriculture would pros-
per south of the isothermal line which ran through the mouth of the
Red River of the North, And as settlement would increase in the British
Northwest, the natural route of travel to that region would be through
Minnesota, Thus Taylor interested himsel£ in furthering the economic
'relatioﬁs between Red River and Minnesota.

But Taylor was also interested in the political destiny of the Red
River Settlement.v He carefully‘noted down part of the address given by

Senator William H. Seward in St, Paul on September 18, 1860.28 Seward

26, P,AM., Donald Gumn Papers, D. Gunn to J. W. Taylor, March 26, 1860,

27. St. Paul Daily Pioneer and Democrat, November 13, 1859,

28, M.H.S., James Wickeés Taylor Papers, Taylor'!s notes of this speech,
September 18, 1860,
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had found time to interrupt his RepuElican campaign speech with a fewg
sweeping statements on American manifest destiny. Rupert!s Land, he
thought, would one day be a part of the American.uniona Although
Taylor was to promote the idea of the annexation of the Northwest more
ardently as time went on, he alsé believed thatib would happen natur-
ally, The economic bonds of Red River with St. Paul, he felt, would
gradually grow into political ties. Therefore, it was important to
bﬁild up and facilitate the movement of commerce between Red Riwer and
Minnesota,

That the commercial intercourse between Red River and Minnesota
was steadily growing was particularly noticed by the Canadian party at
Red River. In the years 1859 and 1860, Red River was to see the
arrival of only a feW'Canadian immigrapts. But these aggressive people
were soon to meke their presence known, Henry MbKenney,»who came from
Canada West in 1859, opened the Royal Hotel in Red River, He was fol-
lowed in 1860 by his half-brother, John Christian Schultz, from
Amherstburg. By 1862 McKenney and Schultz had built a store at the
junction of the Assiniboine and Red River trails, andl the place soon be-
came the headquarters of the Canadian party. In 1859 two Toronto news-
papermen, William Buckingham and William Celdwell, had come to the
Settlement to establish the Nor'!Wester, the first newspaper of the Red
River. Taking theust, Paul route, they had purchased the paperand much
of the plant in St, Paul, The materials were then transported by Red

River cart over the Crow Wing Trail tg Red River.29 The main theme of

29, J. W. Dafoe, "Early'W1nn1peg Newspapers). Papers of the Manitoba
Historical Society, series III, no. 3, 1946-19L7, De Lle
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the Nor'Wester was annexation of the Northwest to Canada; for this
-reason it kept up a steady agitation against the Hudson's Bay Company
rule, which was done in the hope that this rule would soon end, How-
ever, a decade was to go by before these events came to pass,
Meantime, the Canadian.party paid close attention to the develop-
ments related to the St, Paul route., The NortWester, which had become
the voice of the Canadian party, had a number of observations to make,
The inland position of Red River had made the matter of communications
one of great importance. Three main approaches, the Hudson's Bay, the
St. Paul, gnd the Lake Superior routes, gave access to the Red River
Settlement.Bo The short navigation season on the Bay, the hagzardous
trip from York Factory to Red River, and the difficulty of securing
tripmen for the York boats had made the Hudson's Bay route impractic-
able as a means of handling all the traffic to and from the Settle- '
ment., The St. Paul route had recently become the most used approach.
Although the present communications with Minnesota were gréatly valued,
the Settlement would prefer to have its pemanent route through British
territory. Therefore, based on S. J. Dawsonts confident report of the
possibility of a practicable road via Fort William, and based on the
fact that it lay in British territory, the Lake Superior route was
thought to be the most desirable by the Nor'Wester. Despite this con-
clusion, the Nor'Wester readily admitted the superiority of the St.

Paul route as far as Red River trade was concerned., And the recent
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success of this channel of communications was largely credited to
J. C. Burbank.31

It is true that Burbank had worked industriously to improve commun-—
ications between St. Paul and Red River. Nor was anyone more convinced

32

of this than Governor Simpson. However, Simpson had been careful to
keep the extent‘of the Company's involvement in the new developments
from the public. Otherwise the Hudson's Bay Company, too, would have
had to share more fully the comments, whether favourable or critiqal,
that were to be made about the extended transportation facilities,
None the less, Burbank had done much to prepare for the spring

transport of 1860, He had sent a machinist to overhaul the machinery
of the Pioneer, which had been lying in Netley Creek below the Lower
33

Fort during the winter. Then Burbank had arranged for the construc-
tion of one hundred waggons; and'by June . these vehicles,}divided into
four brigades of twenty-five in each, ﬁere carrying freight from St,.
Paul tov(.‘reorgetown.BLP A1l the streams between these two places had been

bridged. However, the people in Red River, as well as the Hudson's Bay

Company, were to benefit from Burbank's efforts. The Minnesota Sﬁage

3l. Ibid., June 14, 1860, ‘ .
32, A. H. B, C., A, 12/10, Simpson to Fraser, June 1, 1860,

33. Nor'Wester, March 28, 1860, The steamboat was still often
referred to by its former name, Anson Northup.

34. Ibid., June 14, 1860,



Company, owned by Burbank, would run four-horse stage coaches for
passengers and mails from St. Paul to meet the Pioneer at Georgetown.3
Furthermore, Burbank had nearly completed arrangements with the Grand
Trunk Railway Company whereby Red River merchants could order goods
directly from Canada or England. The merchants would then be able to
contract with Burbank for the transportation of these goods in bond

the entire distance to Fort Garry.36

The ﬁnport and export trade
that the Red River merghants carried on with St. Paul was also to be
accomodated»by Burbank. The rates weré: $5.00 per 100 1lbs., from Fort
Garry to St. Paul, and $6.00 per.lOO 1bs, from St. Paul to Forﬁ Garry.37
From Burbank's plans, which had received the approval of Simpson,
it was clearly to be seen that the steamboat was also to be employed for
the benefit of the public, the free traders included., This would prob-
ably mean that Red River trade with St. Paul would increase., However,
at the same time the St. Paul route was beginning to stand for more than
a comnection with Mimnesota. The route was actually a means whereby Red
River importers could more easily get their goods from England or
Canada. It is true that the Hudson's Bay Company had again made it

possible for free traders to import goods from England by the Company's

ship, but only on a limited basis. Now it appeared that the.commercial

3 50 Ibid. ] Ma-I'Ch 28’ 1860.
3 6 ° Ibid *

37. AJH.B. C., A, 12/10 Simpson to Fraser, June 29, 1860; Nor'Wester,
June 14, 1860.




bonds of Red River with England and Canada were to be strengthened, if
but a little. Travel to and from these places was also to increase.
Red River, in the 1860ts, was really not to be cut off from England and
Canada as much as the St. Paul route sometimes tended to indicate.
Another fact regarding the steamboat, but unknown to most merchants in
Red River, was that Burbank!s freight rates for them were considerably
higher than for the Hudson'é Bay Company. Perhaps it was the high
rates in themselves, though, that encouraged the cart brigades of pri=
vate traders to continue freighting between Red River and St. Paul.
In June, 1860, a caravan of over three hundred carts left for St. Paul.
However, most of the Company®s goods and a number of the purchases
by Red River merchants in St. Paui were carried to Red River on the
Pioneer. Although the Pioneer was for some time stranded at the Goose
Rapids on her trip froﬁ Netley Creek to Georgetown, Burbank's captain
and crew from St. Paul were soon able to free the steamboat; On June
14, 1860, the Pioneer, accompanied by J. C. Burbank, arrived at Red
River with a load of freight and some twenty-five passengers. The
steamboat flew two flags, the Stars and Striﬁes at the fore, and the
Union Jack at the stern.38 After this first trip of the season, the
boat continued to make the return trip at fairly regular intervals.
On July 17 the Pioneer arrived at Red River with a cargo of thirty tons.

Besides the freight of the Hudsonts Bay Company,

38, AJH.B.C., D 5/51, J. C. Burbank to Simpson, March 5, 1860.
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this cargo contained goods for aboﬁt twenty-three private im.porters.39
By the end of July, nearly five thousand dollars worth of agricultural
implements, among which were twenty reapers and thirteen famning mills,
had been brought in from St. Paul, The orders of groceries by the
Hudson'!s Bay Company and by the Red River merchants amounted to about
six thousand dolla:t‘s.;.LFQ Therefore, settlers and merchants alike were
able to make necessary purchases in St. Paul and have the goods trans—
ported to Red River.

The governor and committee in Londdn, however, were expressing some
concern about the large amount of freight that the Pioneer was carrying
for private traders., To this Simpson answered that it had been under-
stood, when the steamboat was jointly purchased by Burbank and the
Company, that goods for private parties would also be freighted.,
Simpson also believed that any business that Burbank did for the set-
lers would discourage the trade of N, W, Kittson and other American
traders on the frontier, Moreover, if Burbank was only to do the
business of the Company, it was doubtful whether he would continue the
contraot.hl Furthermore, Simpson said, private parties would still

carry their goods over the St. Paul route even if they were denied the

39. Nor'Wester, July 28, 1860.
40, Ibid,

41, AJH.B.C., A. 12/10, Simpson to Fraser, August 3, 1860,




Company's transportation facilities, Simpson again reassured the London
committee that Burbank had no interest in the fur trade of the interior,
and limited himself striectly to the transport business.

While the London committee had always been a little doubtful of the
advantage of having Burbank in charge of the Company's transport business
at St., Paul, it was scon to rely on him almost exclusively. Near the
end of September, 1860, the Pioneer arrived at Red River with her col~
ours at half-mast in observance of the death of George Simpson.42
Governor Simpson had passed away at his home in Lachine on September 7,
1860, The event had come at a time when Simpson was satisfied that the
St, Paul transport could be considereq a.success.

The transport route by way of St, Paul, which Simpson had‘persuaded
the Hudson's Bay Company to adopt, was now largely established. This
had been adcomplished ﬁnder the direction of Simpson with the help of
J.C. Burbank., The years 1859 and 1860 had witnessed the growing to-
gether of the commeréial interests of the free traders and those of the
Company in the St. Paul route., This alliance, which had arisen out of
common heeds, was to operate in the coming years to sustaip Red River
economically. It was also to diminish the agitation against the Hud-
sonl!s Bay Company rule, However, the commercial ties between Red River
andet. Paul had also been drawn tighter. Transportation to St, Paul
had improved, and the immediate futu;e of this transport system was

largely to depend upon J. C, Burbank,

42. Nor'Wester, September 28, 1860,



CHAPTER IV

THE BURBANK LINE, 1860-1862

From the fall of 1860 to the spring of 1862, the Hudson's Bay
Company transport via St, Paul was left almost entirely in the hands of
Je C.VBurbank. Perhaps the London committee was influenced not to
interfere in the rumning of the transport system by Simpson's unshake-
able faith in the honesty of Burbank. Possibly little direction was
given to Burbank because in this time the transport of the Company!'s
goods was carried on with reasoﬁable efficiency. Burbank, however, did
not only look after the freight of the Company. He also continued to
serve the needs of the Red River traders and settlers, Moreover,
through his efforts the postal communications of the Settlement were
improved. With all this traffic between Red River and St. Paul, it was
no wonder that some Americans found thelr way to the Settlement, There
is no evidence, though; that these traders were concerned with anything
beyond their private trading interests. And in the conducting of
their trade, they made use, though not to the exclusion of their own
carts, of the transportation facilities‘offered by Burbank,

Burbank had been successful in transporting all the goods consigned
to him for the 1860 season to Red River before Winter, The Pioneer,

under its captain, C. P, V. Lull, brother-in-law of J, C. Burbank, had

1
arrived with its last cargo on September 26, On the return of the

l. AJH.B.C., A. 12/42, Mactavish to Fraser, October 15, 1860,
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steamboat to Georgetown, the low state of the water had made another
trip impqssible. Therefore, the last load of goods was sent by a
barge. Although the barge only reached the Settlement on November 2,
Just when the ice was beginning to form on the river, the goods had
all arrived safely.

But already in September Burbank had sent a card announcing his ,
plans for the coming season to the people in the Red River Settlement.'
"Having fully and permanently established our line between St. Paul and
Fort Garry," the card read,2 the Burbank Brothers were now making ex—
tensive preparations for the transportation of passengers, mails, and
goods in 1861.

An overland mail service was the first of Burbank's arrangements.
He had received‘the contract for a fortnightly mail sefvice from St.
Paullto Pembina.? The mail carrier from Georgetown to Pembina was to
be G. W. Northup, Horses would be used to carry the mail on this part
of the route until the snow came;‘thereafter it was to be carried_by
dog teams, By October the overland mail service was in 0peration. Six
weeks had formerly been the average time for communications between Red
River and Englend. By the new route a London newspaper had reached the

Settlement in thirty-two days; a letter to England had taken only twenty

2. Tbid., A. 12/42, J. C. and H, C. Burbank and Co. to our friends of
the Red River Settlement, September, 1860,

3, NortWester, October 15, 1860.
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eight days; Thus by the end of 1860, Minnesota had taken another step
to improve the communications system of Red River,

At the begimning of the 1861 transport season, Burbank was working
on two new developments, The first had to do with N. W, Kittson. Bur-
bank was hoping to be able to enter into partnership with Kittson.
Should this take place, all the steamboat business would then be done
at Kittsonl's establishment on the east bank of the Red River, opposite
the mouth of the Assiniboine., However, when Burbank wanted to know
the opinion of William Mactavish on this matter, the latter was not in
J‘.‘za.vour.l+ Mactavish could not see any necessity or advantage in making
a change in the steamboat business, Hitherto, since the beginning of
steam navigation on the Red, the‘delivenies,had been made at the steam—
boat landing at Upper Fort Garry, In October, 1860, the Nor!Wester had
announced that the Hudson's Bay Company was planning to build a receiv-
ing warehouse at this landing for Burbank.5 Here a clerk was to be
employed during the summer to take orders, deliver goods, and collect
debts, It is not certain, though, whether these plans had materialized.
At any rate, Burbank and Kittson did not enter into a partnership.6

Neither is it known whether Kittson was interested in the carrying trade

Le A.H.B.C., A, 12/L2, Mactavish to Fraser, March 7, 186L.
5. Nor'Wester, October 15, 1860,

6. AH.B.C., A. 12/32, Mactavish to Fraser, May 1, 1861.




at this time, However, the Hudson's Bay Company was later to make this
opposition trader into a friend and make good use of him in the trans-
port business,.

Burbank's‘second project, about which he was more serious, was to
be carried out. In order to facilitate the Red River carrying trade,
H. C, Burbank had gone to Georggtown in February to arrange for the
construction of a new steamboat.7 The plans to use the machinery of
the Freighter in this steamboat had already been completed before the
death of George Simpson, Now a saumill was to be set up at Georgetouwn
to prepare lumber for the boat, as well as for a warehouse. As the
coming events were to teach, work on the new steamboat had been started
none too soon,

Meanwhile, the trans-border trade and the transportation of goods
by way of St. Paul continued. On June 11, 1861, the Pioneer, on its
first trip of the season, arrived at Red River with a heavy cargo.8
Apparently its load, nearly sixty tons, was the largest the steamboat
had brought down at one time, The return cargo was made up of buffalo
robes and furs, mostly from the Hudson's Bay Company but also from

free traders. One of the passengers bo Red River had been J.C, Burbank,

7e Nbriwester, March l 1861.

8. AJH.,B.C., A. 12/&2, Mactavish to Fraser, June 12, 1861.
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who stayed in the Settleﬁent until the return of the Pioneer from
Georgetown, Thus Burbank saw to the essential details of the trans-
port both in St. Paul and at the Red River Settlement, Under his
direction the steamboat ran regulariy all summer, although it did not
go above the Goose Rapids after August. On October 26 after its last
trip, the Pioneer, according to the Nor'Wester, was "safely moored!" in
Netley Creek for the win.ter.9 How safe this was to be, people in Red
River were to find out before the winter was over, None the less, both
in St, Paul and in the Red River Settlement it was felt that navigation
on the Red had been established.

Navigation on the Red River, postal communications through the
United States, and a steady growth of trade with St. Paul had all con-
tributed to the ties of Red River with Minnesota. The Nor!'Wester, with
some justification but also with a tendency to overstate, saw in these
economic relations the possibility of future political ties with the
United States. It is true that, as far as trade and commerce went, the
Settlement was largely dependent upon St. Paul., Moreover, competition
between the Hudson's Bay Company and the American traders as well as
the free traders had served to raise the prices of furs and buffalo
robes.lo Although the prices on goods rose at the same time, people in‘

Red River could always be sure of some quick profits from the fur trade.

9. Nor'Wester, November 1, 1861; A.H.B.C., A. 12/42, Mactavish to
Fraser, October 31, 18616'

10, NortWester, April 1, 1861,
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Above all, friendly relations existed between Red River and St. Paul
during these years., However, that the people in Red Biver were being
"Americanized" as a result of trade relations with St. Paul is not
certain.ll In the time that Burbank was almost solely'in charge of the
transport, the Nor!Wester perhaps was pight in referring to the St.
Paul route as "the American Highway to Red River*.";l2 During the remain-
der of the decade, however, the route was probably much more a Red
River and Hudson's Bay Company road to,and through, the United States,
But one consequence of the St, Paul route was that Americans were en-
couraged to come to Red River.

It does not appear that the number of Americans who came in the
first part of the 1860's was very large. Nevertheless, they did make
up a definite part of the population of Red River. The best known and
the principal American trader was Norﬁan‘W. Kittson. The fur trade and
Kittson's relatives in St., Boniface were no doubt the two main reasons
for his coming to Red River in the late 1850's, During the operation
of the steamboat in 1860 and 1861, next to the Hudson's Bay Company,
Kittson had been one of the largest importers, Howevér, in the summer
of 1861 he sold his business and establishment to Alexander Paul, an

American trader from the Lake Superior area.13 Kittson soon withdrew

11, Ibid., September 28, 1860,
12, Ibid., August 15, 1861,

13, A,H.B.C., A. 12/42, Mactavish to Fraser, July 1, 1861,
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to bst. Paul, except for the occasional winter which he spent in the
Settlement. On the other hand, Alexander Paul was determined to do an
extensive trade in Kittson's former premises. He carried on a whole-
sale and retail business in dry goods, groceries, and hardware. By
the number of furs he obtained from the free traders in the winter of
1861-1862, it was obvious that Alexander Paul had now become the main
American fur trader in Red River.u"

As far as the fur trade was éoncerned, other Americans were less
prominent, In 1860 William Gomez Fonseca had opened a store with a
small gbock of goods.l5 Although Fonseca settled down in Red River, he
" did not forget that he was an American citizen. In 1861 his contribution
of five doilars to the Treasury Department "for the upholding of the
U.S. Government” was noted by the St. Paul Daily E’*lr'ess.l6 Another Ameri-
can trader who came to Red River in 1860 was E.L. Barber.l? However,
no mention was made of his business by the Nor‘ﬁeéter in these years. ‘
In 1862 Henry A. Brémely, ‘agent for the North ﬁes’cern Fur Company in
Minnesota, came to trade at the Settlement during the fur season.1® It
Aappears, though, that he did not take up permanent residence,

Two Americans followed occupations other than the fur trade.

1L. Nor'Wester; May 28, 1862,
15. Ibid., November 15, 1860.

16. St. Paul Daily Press, October 26, 1861l. The small contribution
was made to the Pabriotic Loan,

17. W.L. Morton, ed., Alexander Begg's Journal and Other Papers Relative
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to the Red River Resistance of 1869-1870 (Toronto, 1956), p. 245,

18. Nor'Wester, May 28, 1862.
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J.C, .Jéhnétone came to Red River in 1860 to set up a brick-yard.l9v
About this time George Emmerling must have come to the Settlement.zo
Emmerling's Hotel was later to become a gathering place for Americans.

These, then, were some of the Americans in Red River up to the
beginning of 1862, It does not appear that their influence went much
beyond their trading activities at this time. But now, as in the
years that lay ahead, their presence alone helped to emphasize the un-—
certainty of the fubure of Red River,

Meanwhile,J. C. Burbank had been preparing for the 1862 transport
season, On March 5, 1862, the Nor!Wester announced the schedule and

plans of "Burbank's Lineﬁkzl A number of improvements had been made.

In the first place, the mew steamboat, the International, would be

ready for service in May. But there were not to be two steamboats

navigating the Red. The Pioneer had sunk where it had been moored at

the Settlement for the winter., However, the International, which was
a larger steamboat, would be run between the Red River Settlement and
Georgetown until the end of October; at Georgetown it would connect
with four-horse stage coaches by which passengers could get to St,

Paul. Secondly, a small company of troops had been stationed at

19, Ibid., August 14, 1860,

20. A, 5, Morton, A History of the Canadian West to 1870-71 (Toronto,
1939), p. 854

2l. Nor'Wester, March 5, 1862,
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Georgetown to protect the steamboat and the buildings from Indians,
Moreover, Burbank had reduced the freight rates from St. Paul to.
Fort Garry from $6.00 to $5.00 per 100 lbs, for a shipment weighing
less than two thousand pounds. Finally, Burbank had written in the
advertisement that he had spent "a large amount of money to open the
route," and, therefore, felt "justiy entitled to the whole patronage
of the Settlement:.
It was clear from these words that the Burbank Line was hoping to
expand its business in 1862, Indeed, Governor H.H. Berens in London
was confident that the St. Paul route was "now so completely established
that it henceforth be considered as one of the ordinary means of
introducing supplies into the territory."23 But Alexander Grant Dallas,
the newly appointed Governor-in=Chief of Rupert's Land, to whom this
had been written, was soon to find many feults with the way in which
the route had been managed. The Burbank Line had been largely respon-
sible for the transportation facilities and the transport of the
Company's goods to Red River for almost two years. DBurbank was now
aboulb té be asked to give an account of his management. And thé person

to whom Burbank had to answer was Governor Dallase.

22, lbid,

23, AJH.B.C., D, 8/1, H.H. Berens to A.G, Dallas, April, 16, 1862,



CHAPTER V

GOVERNOR DALLAS AND DIFFICULTIES, 1862-136k

On May 18, 1862; Governor Dallas arrived at the Red River
Settlement, Until Dallas! departure for England on May 17; 1864, the
matter of communicationsvby way of St. Paul was to occupy a prominent
part of his time, He immediately found himself in difficulty with
J. C. Burbank over the latterts past performance of the transport of
the Hudson's Bay Company . Noﬁe the less, Burbank was to continue to
freight for the Company. But in 1863, the year when the contract be-
tween Burbank and the Hudson's Bay Company was to expire, the partner-
ship was dissolved. In the éame year the St, Paul route was beset by
two further difficulties, the Sioux menace and the low state of water
on the Red; both were old problems, but now the intensified hostility
of the Sioux chbined with poor navigation seriously hindered
communications.,

Dallas attempted to meet these difficulties, each in its turn,
First, Norman W. Kittson, who had won the respect of George Simpson, was
now appointed the special agent of the Hudson's Bay Company in St. Paul.
Secondly, Dallas, for the most part, dealt wisely with the Sioux
problem, Nevertheless, this vexatious question did impose a brief

strain on the relations of Red River with St. Paul. Lastly, Dallas




dispatched Red River carts to get the 1863 shipment of goods from
Georgetown., Some of these goods had to be brought in from as far as
St, Cloud, and others from Fort Abercromﬁie, located on the Red ™+°
§éuth’offGeaﬁgétOWQ;”i.ﬁu

In order to ensure better transportation for the future, Dallas
explored the possibility of a new route through the United States,
Then, at the begiming of 1864, Dallas, on behalf of the Hudson's Bay
Company, entered into a four-year freight contract with Henry Gager
and Company of St. Cloud.

Despite many interruptions, trade between Red River and St. Paul
.continued during this time, Since St. Paul was not indifferent to the
trade that it was drawing from the Red River Settlement, efforts were
made to keep the cﬁannel of communications open, The mail system was
improved in 1863. Moreover, transportation from St, Paul north was made
available as far as Americans dared to go on account of the Sioux, This
was usually St. Cloud.

Such, then, were the circumstances in which Governor Dallas was to
find himself for two years. The first complication that Dallas en-—
countered had to do with the Hudson's Bay Company!s coﬁtract with the
Burbank Brothers. J. C, Burbank, iﬁ whom George Sﬂmpson had placed
so much confidence, was now, according to Dallas, found wanting in the
management of the Company's transport., Before coming to Red River in

' 1
1862, Dallas had paid the Burbank Brothers a visit in St. Paul. J. C.

1. A.H.B.C., A. 12/43, A. G. Dallas to T. Fraser, May 6, 1862,
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Burbank, in recognition of the existing difficulties in the transport
system? was willing to come to some mutually satisfactory arrangement with
Dallas, However, Dallas wanted to know all the facts, especially those
which were in the possession of Mr, Murr@y,the Company‘s officer who had
been in charge at Geérgetown, and William.Mactaviéh. Thus began the
negotiations between Dallas and Burbank that were to be drawn out for
over a year.

At Red River, Dallas discovered that Mactavish was aware of the
unsatisfactory management of the Company'!'s transport via St. Paul, How-
ever, Dallas was surprised to learn that "Magtavish had never seen or
known the contents of the steamboat con’cract."2 That neither Simpson
nor the governor and committee in London had :. . sent Mactavish a copy
of the agreement was, doubtless, a matter of negledt, It is true that
the views of Simpson and Mac@awish on having Burbank iﬁ charge at St.
Paul had not quite coincided.3 Mactavish had recommended to Simpson
that‘an officer of the Hudson's Bay Company should be stationed at St,
Paul, But Simpson had justified hié choice of Burbank on the ground
that no other suitable person was available for the job., Certainly the
task would have been too much for Mactavish to undertake on top of his
duties as Governor of Assiniboia, With the Nort!Wester agitating for the

end of Company rule, Mactavish, who headed the Council of Assiniboia,

2. Ibld., A, 12/h3, Dallas to Fraser, January 20, 1863, see also ibid.,
A. 12/43, Dallas to Fraser, June 9, 1862.

3. Ibid., A. 12/42, Mactavish to Fraser, December 31 1861,
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was finding it ever more difficult to provide adequate govermment for
the Red River Settlement. Nevertheless, he had given the transport
- system by way of St. Paul as much attention as he possibly could.

But now Dallas had found a person who, he thought,‘would be
suitable as the agent of the Hudson'!s Bay Company at St. Paul., This

was Norman W, Kittson. As agent of the Company, Kittson was to assume

charge of the International and the transport of the Company'!s goods.
By this Burbank was not, however, to be excluded from having a voice
in the matter. It would be Kittson's foremost duty to see that the _
joint interests of Burbank and thé Hudson's Bay Company were protected.
Kittson was soon to justify this responsibility entrusted to his care.
Besides gaining an experienced, trustworthy person to direct the trans-
port of goods, Dallas felt that he had scored another point in favour
of the Hudson's Bay Company. Dallas thought it quite probable that
Kittson wtuld have eventually established himself as a carrier of geoods
on the St. Paul route., Therefore, by appginting Kittson as special
agent of the Company, Dallas had been successful in "econverting him
from an opponent into an ally."h

Next Dalias attempted to céme to an understanding with Burbank,
However, Dallas had many complaints, and his approach was not always
tactful., The complaints of the Hudson'!s Bay Company were outlined in

detail in a letter to the Burbank Brothers.5 First, the control of the

he Ibid., A. 12/43, Dallas to Fraser, May 28, 1862,

5. Ibid., A. 12/43, Dallas to Messrs. J. C. and H, C, Burbank, May
2L, 1862,
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receipts and experditures in connection with the transport business
had been almost exclusively in the hands of_Burbank. Neither Mactavish
nor Murmy had been consulted in this regard. Nor had the Hudson's Bay
Company had a voice in the appointment of the crew of the steamboat.
Dallas was aware that the Company was largely responsible for the lack
of supervision over the transport of its goods;6 however, he did not
admit this to Burbank. Second, Burbank had teken some of the land of
the Company at Georgetown for his own use, and for other portions the
Company's title was still in doubt, Third, Dallas said that the Hud-
son's Bay Company should got have been made to share in the expenses of
the sawmill at Georgetown, Fourth, the loss of the Piomeer was charged
to the negligence of the crew employed by Burbank., Finélly, the goods
of the Company had been handled carelessly with the result that there
had been both loss and damage., DMNoreover, the goqu of private parties
had received preference in the transport from St. Paul to‘Red River.
This had resulted in the Company's supplies being delayed at St. Paul
or Georgetown. These were the points that Dallas thought Burbank
should make some effort to correct or explain,

Burbank did not reply to every point, but his explanations indi-
cate that the fault was not solély his. Burbank maintained that he
had come to an understanding with George Simpson whereby the former

had a free hand in the employment of help for the management of the

6. Ibid., A. 12/43, Dallas to Fraser, May 6, 1862,
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steamboat.! The sawmill had been taken into the steamboat account
because the men who worked at the mill were the same who ran the
steamboat, Furthermore, Burhank asked for some éonsideration for the
fact that the amount of the Company's freight had fallen short of his
expectations.8 Whereas the contract stated that the Company would
provide about 250 tons of freight per year, Simpson had given Burbank
" to understand that the average freight that could be expected per
year was aboui 500 tons. Consequently, Burbank had made the necessary
arrangemehts and incurred heavy expenses to be able to transport this
amount, He proposed, though, that this point could be settled when
the present contract was extended., While Burbank, then, had some
cause for expressing disappointment, he also had been careless in his
management of the Georgetown post. According to Kittson, Burbank's
agent_had not properly cared for the Company's warehouse at that
place.9
Then there was the matter régarding the freight of Red River
traders and settlers, To this Burbank had nothing to say. Indeed, it

was quite evident that the St., Paul route had to serve the needs of the

7. ZIbid., A. 12/43, N. W. Kittson to the Hudson's Bay Co., June 23, 1862,
8. Ibid., A. 12/43, J.C. and H,C. Burbank to Mactavish, August 18,_1862.

9., Ibid., A. 12/L3, Kittson to the Hudson's Bay Co., June 23, 1862,
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people in Red River, as well as those of the Company. Moreover, if
Burbank carried goods for the settlers and fur traders, traffic on the
route would increase. This, of course, was to the advantage of Bur-
bank, In the first place, therefore, through neglect on the part of
both the Hudson's Bay Compény and qubank, the Company's goods had not
all been transported satisfactorily. Secondly, the attempt of Burbank
to satisfy both the demands of the Company and those of the whole
Settlement had led to further complaints by Dallas. Finally, Burbank
could not afford to neglect his own interests, The transportation of
goods to Red River was attended with much expensey Unless there was
sufficient traffic, the route could not be worked profitably. It is
significant that throughout this time no evidence had been found that
Burbank was interested in the St. Pagl route beyond the profits that
might result from the carrying trade,

Mthough the differences between the Hudson's Bay Company and the
Burbank Brothers had not been completely settled, the transportation of
goods and passengers between Red River and St. Paul had not been

interrupted, On May 26, 1862, the International arrived at Fort Garry

with supplies for the Company and goods for twenty-seven private
importers.lo The steamboat had also brought over 160 passengers, both
American and Canadian, who were passing through the Settlement on

their way to the gold fields in British Columbia.ll Although the

10. Nor'Wester, May 28, 1862,

11. A.H.B.C., A. 11/97, Mactavish to Fraser, May 28, 1862,
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International, with a length of 137 feet, was larger than the Pioneer,

the new steamboat was considered‘tg be too long for the many tortuous
bends in the upper part of the Red.12 However, the shallow draft of
the steamboat had been specially designed to overcome the problem of
the low state of water in the Red during the summer,

That summer the International had made at least four trips be-

tween Georgetown and Red River by the end of July.ll+ After that it did

not go above the Goose Rapids, and by the end of August the water in the

Red had fallen so low that only one more trip was likely to be made,

Burbank, or course, was anxious to run the steamboat as long as possi-
1

"ble in order "bto secure public confidence in the routei’, g None the

less, by September the International had beeh laid up for the winter.

The next reverse that traffic along the St, Paul route encountered
was more serious., In September news reached the Red River Settlement
that the Sioux had risen in Mimnesota., The mail cqmmnnicaiions of Red

16 Traffic to and from St. Paul almost ceased.

River were soon cut off,
However, the supplies from Georgetown were to be taken to Red River by
means of a barge and Red River carts. The barge arrived at the Settle~
ment safely; but the carts, under the sﬁpervision of N. W. Kittson,
were stopped by the Indians and robbed of goods amounting to about
17

twelve thousand dollars. It was clear that the plain road, which lay

12, Ibid. o :
13. Hargrave, Red River, p. 230.
1h. NortWester, July 23, 1862. .
15, AJH.B.C., A, 11/97, Mactavish to Fraser, August 22, 1862.
16, Ibid., A. 11/97, Mactavish to Fraser, September 30, 1862,

17. M,H.S., Alexander Ramsey Papers, Kittson to A. Ramsey, September l,
18633 Hargrave, op. cit., p. 249. These losses were later made up
by the American government.
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in Sioux territory, was no longer safe, To restore the mail service,
therefore, the mail was sent by the Crow Wing Trail., By the end of
October, the comnunications of Red River with St. Paul had partly
been restored,

The Sioux were to have an adverse effect not only on the communi-
cations of Red River, but also on the Settlement itself, The depart-
ure of the Camadian Rifles in 1861 had left Red River unprotected, Now,
according to information that had been received in Red River, the Sioux
were planning to visit the Settlement., Therefore, in a petition signed
by over one thousand people, the Duke of Newcastle, Secretary of State
for the Colonies, was requested to send troops for protection from the
Sioux.18 The petition was forwarded to Newcastle by Governor H., H.
Berens. However, Newcastle was not prepared to send troops to Red River.
His view was that the defence of the Settlement should be secured ‘
first, by a local militia;;énd second, through the Hudson's Bay Company.l9

British troops, then, were not available. And by the beginning of
January, 1863, a party of over eighty Sioux had appeared at Red River,
They had come for two reasons.gO One was to get provisions for their

starving families. Secondly, the Sioux wanted to find out what kind of

18, A,H.B.C., A. 12/43, Dallas to Fraser, December 20, 1862,
19. Ibid., D. 8/1, C. Fortescue to Berens, March 12, 1863,

20, Ibid., A. 11/97, Mactavish to Fraser, January 9, 1863.
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a recaption they would get from the half-breeds and Indians living on
British soil. Since the Sioux had encountered no hostility and were
satisfied with the overall treatment which they had received at the
Settlement, they were bound to appear again. When Chief Little Crow
ﬁith a band of Sioux arrived at Red River towards the end of May,
Dallas got them to leave by giving them some food and presents, but
not ammunitio_n.21 Meantime, a large group of people in Red River
had petitioned Governor Dallas and the Counc@l of Assiniboia to réise
volunteers for the defence of the Settlement.22 It was the armed
metis, however, who were to remain the only defence of Red River against
the Siouwx,*>

But the people of the Settlement also had to deal with the Sioux
on the way to St, Paul. The St, Paul route had become an essential part
of the trade and communications of Red River, The Hudson's Bay Combany
had alsq come to depend largely}on this route for the trahsport of
freight. Therefore, Dallas, along with the people of Red River, was

anxious to prevent any collision with the Sioux. For two reasons

Dallas was led to believe that passage along the St., Paul route would

21, Ibid., A. 12/43, Dallas to Fraser, June 3, 1863,
On this occasion Dallas also gave some presents to the Saulteaux
Indians who were camped at the Settlement., The favour shown to
the Sioux had caused the Saulteaux to become jealous,

22. Ibid., A. 12/43, Dallas to Fraser, March 23, 1863.

23. Morton, Manitoba: A History, p. 1ll2.
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be relatively safe for the inhabitants of Red River. In the first place,
he had received word from St. Paul that there would be a considerable
number of American troops stationed at "various posts along the routeﬂtzh
Secoﬁdly, the Sioux had prqmised that they would not interfere with any
people from thé Settlement.25 In fact, the Sioux had made it known

that no British people would be molested by them. The two-wheeled Red
River carts, as opposed to the four-wheeled American waggons, was one

of the signs bvahich the Sioux recognized British citizens from Red
River on the St. Paul rou.te.26

It was by means of cart trains that trade was resumed between Red

River and St, Paul in the summer of 1863. The International made no
trips during the season of navigation., Burbank did not run the steam-
boat because of the low water in the Red and due to the Sioux threat

to which the American crew of the International would have been exposed.

Furthermore, Burbank did not fulfill his freight contract with the
Hudson's Bay Company in 1863, Because of Burbankts differences with the
Hudson's Bay Company; there seemed to be a natural unwillingness on his
part to perform the tramsport., It was obvious, though, that Burbank

was unable to get American teamsfers to go to Red River because of the

2h. AJH.B.C., A. 12/43, Dallas to Fraser, February 5, 1863,
25, Ibid., A. 12/43, Dallas to Gov. and Comm., June 8, 1863.

26, Hargrave, op.cit., p. 292.



Sioux threat, Moreover, under these circumstances, the goods were much
safer in the hands of the Red River people,

By the beginning of June, the carts of the traders and the Hudson's
Bay Company had left for St. Paul.27 Burbank had done his part by car-
rying the goods as far as St. Cloud. And in July the Nor'Wester
reported that the brigéde of carts had arrived back at Red River
safely.28 No one had been molested by the Sioux. Despite the Sioux
troubles, there is.reason to believe that there was actually a slight
increase in trade along the St. Paul route in 1863. By July, Joseph
Lemay, éollector of Customs for the American govermment at Pembina, had
collected duties of about three thousand dollars on furs from Red R:'Lver.29
‘It remained true that not all the gdods of private importers were pur-
chased in St. Paul. That year sixty-one people at Red River received
merchandise from England via St. Paul.BO One reason for the increase in
traffic on the St. Paul route was because the Hudson!s Bay Company had
closed the York Factory route to private traders in 1863.31 Failure of
navigation on the Red had led to this move by the Company.

If Red River continued to maintain its connection with St, Paul in

these years, the latter also made efforts to keep up its northern trade.

27. Nor'Wester, June 2, 1863.
28, Ibid., July 22, 1863,

29. Ibid., August 5, 1863.

30. Ibid., September 16, 1863,

31. Ibid., June 30, 1863.
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The outbreak of the Civil War in 1861 had created a heavy demand for

buffalo robes for the American troops.32

Soon this export from Red
River was selling at a good price. The year 1863 also saw further im-
provements in the mail service to Red River. Beginning on April 1, mail
deliveries from St, Paul to Pembina were to be made twice a weeke. This,
however, did not mean that the mail would reach Red River regularly.
The mail carrier always had to count on being delayed by the Sioux.
Then, in the fall of 1863, Senator Alexander Ramséy was sﬁccessful in
making arrangemeﬁts for the mail to pass from St, Paul to Pembina in
"through bags! instead of "way bags*’.“.‘33 No.longer were the entire con~
tents of the mailbag examined at every stop, The new system had come
upon the request of Governor Dallas, and by‘l86h the mail service to Red
River was carried out much more efficiently. In 1863 Senator Ramsey, on
behalf of the United States government concluded a treaty with the Red
Lake Indians‘for the extinction'of their title to the lands of the Red
River valley. The people of St, Paul now 1ooked forward to less inter-
ruption of trade.and travel from Red River. Moreover, it was hoped that
the treaty»would be a means of the opening of northern Minnesota to the
Settlement,

But northern Mimmesobta during the 1860's remained largely unsettled,
and the Sioux continued to wander over theée lands. The people of Red

River, too, had rejoiced that the Indian treaty would result in better

32. St. Paul Daily Press, November 9, 1861.

33. Hargrave, op. cit., pp. 304-305.
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communicétion with St. Paul, % Furthermore, they hoped that there would
be no more visits from the refugee Sioux, This last was to prove a vain
hope. That year the failure of the potato crop, the reduced returns
from the grain crops, and the partial failure of the fall "buffalo hunt
had caused a shortage of food and provisions in the Settlement.35 The
arrival at Pembina of about four hundred Ameérican cavalry under Major
E.A.C. Hatch had created a market in Red River; it had also made a
further demand on the short supply of provisions at the Settlemen.t.36
Finally, when some five hundred Sioux arrived at Red River in December,
1863, Governor Dallas saw that it would be difficult to feed these
starving families,

In seeking tq solve this problem, Dallas attempted to keep three
main aims in mind, In the first place, a collision with the Sioux should
be avoided. Secondly, in order to protect the‘Settlement, it was
essential that the Sioux be persuaded to leave, Third, Dallas was care-
ful to maintain friendly relations with the Americané troops’ at. Pembina,

It was clear that a collision with the Sioux would result in the
needless loss of life and: the damage of property in the Settlement.
Furthermore, once the hostility of the Sioux had been incurred, it would
be necessary to call iy Hatch's troops from Pembina. Because this was

a matter that would involve Red River in an international problem, Dallas

3L4e Nor'Wester, October 14, 1863.
35. A.H.B.C., A. 12/43, Dallas to Fraser, December 11, 1863,

36 » Ibid °
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tried to keep clear of it as long as possible, Therefore, after failing
to persuade the Sioux to leave by small offers of provisions, Dallas se-
cured permission from the Council of Assiniboia to supply the Indians
with a larger quantity of provisions, which would be paid for out of
public funds,37 The Sioux were then furnished with food, clothing; and
sleds to transport the provisions. The understanding was‘that they
would leave the Settlement and proceed to Turtle Mountain. However, the
Sioux went only as far as the White Horse Plain, where they camped on
theh@rthside of the Assiniboine, Here their presenée was still a danger
to the Settlement.

The danger had been somewhat lessened by the refusal of Dallas to

38 The

give the Sioux ammunition, as he had earlier intended to do.
ammunition, of course, was to be used only to hunt game. None the less,
many of the settlers became so alarmed that they urged Dallas either to
invite the intervention of American troops from Pembina, or to arm the
people in the Settlement and drive the Sioux away. Dallas was reluctant
to follow either one of the courses that had been suggested. Hatch had

instructions from General H. H. Sibley not to follow the Sioux across

the 1ine.39 But when the settlers persisted that some action be taken,

37. P.AJl,, Council of Assiniboia, :Mimitws:a, December 19, 1863.

38, Ibid., January 7, 186L; A.H.B.C., A. 12/43, Dallas to Fraser,
December 11, 1863; ibid., A. 12/43, Dallas to Fraser, February
21{-’ 186[]-.

39, AJH.B.C., A. 12/43, Dallas to Lord Lyons, February 25, 18643
A.C. Gluek, Jr., "The Sioux Uprising, A Problem in International
Relations," Minnesota History Bulletin (St. Paul, 1955), p. 323.




and following the offer of Hatéh to capture the Sioux im.: British
territony,ho Dallas granted the American troops permission to cross
the border. St., Paul had already become less sympathetic.to the
troubles of the Red River people because the Settlement appeared to be
a refuge for the Sioux.who had been responsible for the Indian massacres
in Minnesota.hl As Dallas later admitted, this pressure from the
American press had been anoﬁher reason why he had granted the request of
Major Hantch.h2 However, by the beginning of May, the American troops
had retired to Fort Abercrombie without having followed the Sioux into
. British territory. Although the Sioux had soon taken their departure
from Red River, the Settlementbhad not seen the last of them,

Meantime, Dallas had also been concerning himself with the transport
‘ by way of St, Paul., He had decided, by the summer of 1863, that the
Hudson's Bay Company's contract with the Burbank Brothers would not be
renewed. In this matter the governor and comnittee in London had left
the decision up to Dallas,*3 Therefore, upon the expiry of the con-

tract, the Company had purchased the Burbank Brothers' share in the

40. AJH.B.C., A. 12/43, Major E,A.C, Hatch to Dallas, March k4, 186k,

4l. St. Paul Weekly Pioneer and Democrat, Februvary 5, l86A.
2. AJH.B.C., A. 12/43, Dallas to Fraser, May 10, 186k.

L3. Ibid., D. 8/1, Berens to Dallas, April 15, 1863.
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International and the sawmill at Georgetouwn for about $5,500,h4 Thus

the Hudson's Bay Company became the sole owner of the steamboat and the
Georgetown post, including the sawmill, The title for the Company's
lands at Georgetown had been secured. Only one lot remained in dispute
with a squatter. And by the spring of 1864, the Company had settled
all its differences with Burbank.45 Besides being dissatisfied with
Burbank's performance of the transport, both Dallas and Mactavish
thought that Burbank had been too active in furthering his own interests,
especially those of the Minnesota Stage Company. It was true that .
Burbank had exerted himself to create traffic on the St. Paul route,
Since this would inevitably lead to the opening of Rupert!s Land to
settlement, Dallas had decided to break off relations with Burbank.
Although the Hudson's Bay Company did not do any further business with
Ja C.‘Burbank until later, he continued to take orders for people at Red
River, Burbanklalso kept up his passenger and freight service between
St, Paul and St. Cloud.

Delay in goods from England to-Red River had, however, also been

caused between Montreal and St. Paul. The Grand Trunk Railway Company

was respounsible for this part of the route. But the governor and comm-

ittee in London were reluctant to discontinue the route which the Grand

Trunk was using between Montreal and St, Paul., Moreover, the Grand

bhe Thbide, As 12/L43, Dallas to Fraser, November 1k, 1863.

45. Ibid., D. 8/1, E. Head to Dallas, March 5, 186Ly ibid., A. 12/L3
Dallas to Fraser, March 29, 1864.
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Trunk had adopted measures to avoid future irregularities in the trans-
port of goods.ﬂ6 Dallas, however, thought that a further improvement
could be made by having the Grand Trunk lay the goods down ab Superior
City on Lake Superior. From here the goods would be transported over-
land by way of Crow Wing to meet the steamboat on the Red River,
Dallas cquld’see two advantages in this route which did not run through
St, Paul., First, there was continuous water carriage to Superior City,
and second, the land route was more out of the way of the Sioux,h7 On
the other hand, the governor and committee were satisfied with the
existing route. They had already decided that the arrangements with the
Grand Trunk whereby the Hudson's Bay Company received fhrough bills of
lading for all goods ffom England to St. Paul would be continued.

But Dallas was not to be persuaded so easily. Consequently, he
had instructed Norman W. Kittson to obtaih more definite information on
the road by Superior City. Late in 1863, Kittson reported on the con~

49

ditions of the road between Superior City and Crow Wing. The people
in Superior City had shown an immediate interest in the project. Prop-
erty owners were willing to promote the construction of the road if they
fould do so in city property rather than by cash. Therefore, Kittson,
on behalf of the Hudson's Bay Company, had made a proposal to the inter-

ested parties., If they.would pay the Company five thousand dollars in

46. Ibid., D. 8/1, Berens to Dallas, April 16, 1862,

7. Ibid., A. 12/43, Dallas to Fraser, April 29, 1863.
48, Ibid., D, 8/1, Berens to Dallas, April 15, 1863.

49. Ibid., A. 12/L3, Kittson to Dallas, November 23, 1863.
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cash and transfer to it twenty thousand dollars in city property, the
Hudson's Bay Company would undertake the building of the road,

Kittson estimated that about twenty thousand dollars would have to be
spent before the road could be used., He was impressed with the advan-
tages of the route, and had been encouraged by the fact that the re-
quired cash had almost been raised before he left Superior City.
However, the early enthusiasm of the property owners in Superior City
was not to last, And in the end the Hudson's Bay Company stayed with
the St, Paul route.

From time to time Dallas had considered giving up the route
through American territory entirely., This, of course, meant that the
Hudson's Bay Company would have to rely completely on the York Factory
route, Bubt the difficulties with the York tripmen were increasing each
year, Therefore, Dallas did not revert to the way by Hudson'é Bay.
Instead, he followed the idea of Simpson and again contracted with
Americans to transport.the Company's goods via S5t. Paul,

In March, 186k, shortly before his final departure for England,
Dallas, for the Hudson's Bay Company, entered into a steamboat contract

50

with Henry Gager and Company of St. Cloud. QOther members of the Gager
Company were J. B, Mills, J, R, Harris, and G, R, Bentley. By this

agreement the Hudson's Bay-Company sold the International, the barge,

and the warehouse abt Georgetown to the Gager Company for fifteen thousand

dollars, The International was to be under the control of the Gager

50. Ibid., &, 12/43, Dallas to Fraser, May 5, 186k
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Company, but it would not be transferred to that Company as its
property until the steamboat was paid for in full. All the freight for
the Hudson's Bay Company would be transported by these American ¢on-
tractors from St. Paul to Fort Garry for the four seasons from May, 1864
to November, 1867, The rate was $4.60 per 100 lbs. from St. Paul to
Fort Garry, and $2.30 per 100 1lbs. for return freight. Each party to
the contract was subject to a penalty upon failure to deliver the re-
guired amount of goods. Furthermore, in the event that the transport-
ation contréct should fail completely, the Gager Company would forfeit

the payments on the International and the steamboat would once more

become the sole property of the Hudson's Bay Company .

In this way, Dallas hoped to safeguard the Hudson‘s Bay Company
from possible losses in the transport of its goods, Moreover, he thought
that the complications which had arisen in connection with the Burbank
Brothers would not be repeated. It is true that Dallas had again fallen
back on American contractors to transport the Company's goods by way of
St. Paul. However, he realized that it could thus be done on lower
terms than if the Hudson'!s Bay Company were to perform the transport.5l
Whereas the new contract affarded the Hudson's Béy Company more protecf
tion, there was still no guamantee that it would work out successfully.
But as George Simpson had not lived to see the final outcome of the

contract with the Burbank Brothers, so Dallas was no longer to be in Red

River when the Gager Company ran into difficulties,

51. Ibid.
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Dallas had faced numerous problems in connection with the St. Paul
route during his short'stay in Red River. However, the Hudson's Bay
Company's differences with Burbank had been finally settled., On the
whole, Dallas had handled the Sioux problem well. The Red River people
had not been harmed on the way to St. Paul, and the Settlement had
temporarily been rid of the Sioux, Dallas had made provision for the
future transport of the Company's goods by way of St. Paul., And it
was fairly clear that‘the Hudson's Bay Company intended to continue
the use of this route,

Not only Dallas, however, had been concerned with the St. Paul
route, Both the people of Red River and the St. Paul merchants had put
forth efforts to maintain the trans-border trade and to improve communi-
cations., Nevertheless, the fﬁture of the communications of Red River
with the outside world had'not been finally decided. True, in the
spring of 1864, the Red River Settlement looked forward to improved
communications with St. Paul., But there were still some elements of‘
uncertainty in the 5t. Paul route., Moreover, Canadian interest in Red
River had again been actively revived., Theréfore, besides the political
ﬁncertainty that the Red River Settlement was faced with in these years,
it also had reason to»be concerned about what would happen to its

communications system.



CHAPTER VI

RED RIVER CARTS SURVIVE OTHER PLANS, 1864-1866

The Red River cart brigade was the chief means of transportation
on the St. Paul route from 1864 to 1866. The low state of the water in
the Red River made navigation from Georgetown to the Settlement almost

impossible., Therefore, the International made only a few trips during

this time. Nor were the American waggons successfully used in the
transport of supplies to Red River. Thé Gager Company was unable to
freight goods all the way to qut Garry for reasons arising out of the
Civil War and the Sioux menace,

During this time the St. Paul route also remained the main line
of communication of Red River. Dallas had hoped to'transport_the freight
of the Hudson's Bay Compgny by way of Superior City. Thus St. Paul
would have been bypassed. But in 1866 the proposed Superior City road
had not materialized, It also appeared that Canadian interest in the
Northwest was going to affect the communications of Red River., Early
in 1864 it seemed almost certain that Red River was about to be comnected
to Canada by a postal and telegraph road. Thus a number of plans were
underway to provide transportation and communications for the Red River
Settlement, But in the end these needs were largely met by the use of
Red River carts on the St. Paul route,

One of the first of these projects that was to fail in 186/ was the
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prdposed mail and telegraph line from Cénada. Since the year 1860, no
mail had been carried to Red River by the Canadian route. But in 1862
circumstanceé were operating to cause Canadians to look westward once
more. The outbreak of the American Civil War and the tension beﬁween
Britain and the North over the Tfent affeir had given the Canadian
government much cause for concern., The Cartier-Macdonald government
was now seriously thihking that union of the British North American
colonies would supply the key to the survival of Canada. Since the
Northwest had become linked with the idea of colonial federation as early
as 1858, westward expansion was again given the attention of the govern-
ment, Thus in April, 1862, the Cartier-MacDonald ministby had suggested
to Governor Dallas that Canada and the Hudson's Bay Company should
jointly undertake to construct a post road and telegraph line from
Canada to British Columbia.l Canada would provide communications to the
height of land west of Lake Superior, and the Company was to complete
ihe line to the Pacific. Although the Hudson!s Bay Company did not con-
sider the proposal, it was not opposed to the idea that Canada and
Britain enter upon the project.

Therefore the J. S, thDonald—Sicottewgovernment, in office since
May, 1862, turned to Britain for assistance. Through L. V. Sicotte and
W. P. Howland, who had gone to London late in 1862, the Canadian mini-

stry expressed its willingness to subsidize part of the mail and

1. Galbraith, The Hudson's Bay Company as an Imperial Factor, 1821-1869.
P 3730
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telegraph communications to the Pacific on the condition that Britain
and British Columbia would share in the cost. At this point Edward
Watkin, president of the Grand Trunk Railway Company, became interested
in the project. The telegraph project tied in with Watkin's plan to
save the Grand Trunk from its financial difficulties by extending the
railway through Minnesota and the Saskatchewan valley to the Pacific.
Therefore, Watkin and some London capitalists joined the proposed
enterprise, The result was that the Atlantic and Pacific Transit and
Telegraph Company was organized.

In 1863 this company was to be joined by the Hudson's Bay Company
in the telegraph project. That year the International Financial
Society was organized, and in June it purchased the stock of the Hud-
son's Bay Company. The reorganized Company had at least twp important
stockholders who were interested in Canadian communications. One was
Edward Watkin, and the other was the new Governor, Sir Edmund Head,
formerly Governor-General of Canada.

Meanwhile, both the Canadian party dn Red River and the Canadian
government attempted to create interest in the proposed communications.
Barly in 1863 James Ross, son of Alexander Ross, circulated a petition
in Red River which requested that the British and Canadian governments

2

construct a telegraph line from Canada to Red River.* The Canadian

government in February, 1863, placed before the legislature a request

2, NortWester, January 24, 1863,
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for fifty thousand dollars to‘promote postal and telegraphic communi-
cations with British Columbia. Again in August, Governor-General
Monck asked the legislature to consider the importance of opening
communications to the Nbrthwest.3

But while Canada and Britain remained undecided about the project,

. Watkin persuaded the Hudson's Bay Company to begin construction of the

line. Accordingly, in the spring of 1864, the Company sent John Roe,

a retired chief factor, to survey the telegraph route from Fort Garry
to the Pacific., The Hudson's Bay Company also purchased telegraph

wire of which over seventy tons were sent to Red River.* ‘Bﬁt the
Company was the only party that had moved ahead. The J. S. Macdonald-
Dorion government in February, 1864, gave up the»plan of wstern commu=-
nications which the former ministry had proposed. The fact was that
the overburdened treasury of the govermment was unable to bear the cost
of the telegraph project. The unused bundles of wire at Red River were
to remind the Canadian party that Canada was still not able to stretch
her resources so as to provide the Red River Settlement with communica-
tions.,

Besides the attempt to build a telegraph line from Canada, another

expected event had seemed to indicate that the St. Paul route would not

receive such extensive use by the Red River people in the future. In

3. P.AM., Parliamentary Debabes, Legislative Council, August 1k, 1863.

L].. G‘albrai'bh, 22- _C_j_.;b_., Po 3911-.
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1864 there was a probability that Congress would repeal the Bonding Act
by which . Red River could import British goods through American
territory duty-free., If the people in the Settlement could no longer
transport their imports from England in bond through the United States,
they wouid be compekled to follow either one of two alternativeso5
The first way out was to discontinue the purchases of English manufac~
tures and increase their imports from the United States. But this was
not a good course to take because goods from England were specially
manufacturéd to suit the needs of the fur trade. WMoreover, the recent
increase in the price of American goods was another reason why it
would be more advantageous to continue importing from England. The
second alternative was that English goods would henceforth 'have ‘po be
brought in over British territory rather than by way of St. Paul, The
departure of the American trqops from Pembina, which increased the dan-
ger from the Sioux on the St. Paul route; gave force to this argument.
However, Red River was able to cor_ltinue to transport English imports
in bond through the United Stated. Furthermore, there was little hope
in 186/ that a Canadian route wouldlitmnediately be opened to Red River,
It was clear,then, that the St. Paul route was to remain important
to the Red River‘Se'btlement. But the method of transportation was
always somewhalt uncertain. Where@,:s by 1861 navigation on the Red River

of the North seemed to be established, between 1863 and 1866 the

5, Nor'Wester, April 26, 186L.
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International was hardly used. But after 186/ this was not the fault of

the Gager Company which was in charge of the steamboalt for some time atb
least. The large sime of the boat and low water in the Red combined to

keep the Intermational laid up most of the time. On May 1, 1864, the

steamboat, with no freight and only a few passengers, arrived at the
Red River Settlemen.t.6 It was to be her one and only trip that season,
In July the Nor'Wester reported that the steamboat was stranded on the
Goose Rapids. The 1865 navigation season was to be no better, It
appears that the steamboat made no more than one trip that year.7 Chief
Factor J. R. Clare wrote the London committee that it would be better

to leave the International Y“oubt of our calculations in all future

schemes of transport."8 These doubts about navigation on the_Red were
expressed in spring when the wéter was usvally at its highest, In May,
1866, Clare thought it uncertain that the steamboat would be of any
service during that summ.er.9 And in June Mactavish wrote that the steam~

10

boat had been "unable to make a single tripd. Such were the

6. Ibid., May lO 186h.
7. AJH.B, C., Ao 12/44, Mactavish to Fraser, February 19, 1866
8, Ibid., A, 11/98, J. R. Clare to Fraser, April 10, 1865.
Chief Factor J. R. Clare was now in charge of the fur trade of

the Hudson!s Bay Company at Fort Garry.

9. Ibld., A, 11/98 Clare to Fraser, May 15, 1866,

10, Ibid., A. lZ/LA, Mactavish to Fraser, June 13, 1866,
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discouraging reports of the navigation on the Red in these years,

However, according to the contract with the Hudson's Bay Company,»
the Gager Company was still obligated to transport goods to qut Garry.
Since the steamboat could not be used, the four-wheeled American wag-
gons, driven by American teamsters, were to carry the freight. In July,
186k, it was reported that two large ﬁrains of Gagerts waggons were on
their way to the Red River Settlement.ll However, from dread of the
Sioux the American teamsters had not brought the goods beyond George-
.town.l2 Nor did the Gager Company_transport any goods for Red River
farther than Georgetown after that.

One of the main reasons for the failure of the Gager Company was,
of course, the Sioux. Gager could not get his teamsters to travel the
longvdistance between Georgetown and Fort Garry without a military es~
cort.13 During the summer of 1864 three of his men had been kiiled by

)

the Sioux. Gager also claimed that some of the people from Red River

had intentionally discouraged the American teamsters from making the

14

journey by emphasizing the danger of the Sioux.
Then, circumstances related to the Civil War had also operated
to bring about the failure of the Gager Company. In 1860 the popula-

tion of Minnesota was 172,023. Although the population steadily

11, DNor‘Wester, July 13, 1864, 7
12. A.H.B.C., A, 11/97, Mactavish to W. G. Smith, July 8, 1864.
13. Ibid., A. 11/98, H. Gager and Co. to Kittson, March A, 1865,

14, Ibid.
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increased from 1860 t011865, the war had caused a labour‘shortage.
Over twenty thousand men from Mimnesota had gone to war.l5 This was
a second reason why Gager had found it difficult to get labour for his
transport business.16 Moreover, the wages for labourers had risen con-
siderably. In 1861, when there was still an adequate supply of labour,
teamsters could be had at fifteen dollars per month; now they were
getting fifty dollars per m.onth.17

Although good relations were maintained between the Gager Company
and the Hudson's Bay Company, the former had applied to be released
from the steamboat and freight contract in 1865.18 It is not glear
what arrangements the Hudson's Bay Company now made with Gager. It
would seem, though, that the Gager Company continued to transport the
goods of the Hudseon's Bay Company>to Georgetown on a limited basis until
1867g19 Since no more mention can be found of the Gager Company after

that, it would also follow that the International and the Georgetown

post had gone back to the Hudsonis Béy Company. Obviously the Gager
Company héd not operated as successfully as J. C, Burbank. Nor had

Gager created as much traffic on the St. Paul route, In this last matter,

15. R. C. Loehr, "The State of Minnesota: 1860-1870i* Gopher Historian,
XVIT (Spring, 1963), no. 3, p. 6.

16. A.H.B.C., A. 11/98, Gager and Co. to Kittson, March 4, 1865,
17, Tbid.
18. A.H.B.C., A, 11/98, Clare to Fraser, April 10, 1865.

19, Ibid., D. 9/1, Mactavish to Kittson, June 2, 1867,
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the Civil War had played no small part. The war had caused St, Paul
to look south in these years,

Meanwhile, the Hudson's Bay Company had fallen back on its own
resources and the help of the RedvRiver settlers to carry its freight
between Fort Garry and Georgetown, Furthermore, these years were to
mark a firmer alliance between the Hudsonfs Bay Company and the people
of Red River, the Canadian party excepted. Chief Factor Clare made
it a policy to pay good prices for the furs of some of the free traders,
This, of course, was done largely to compete against the American
traders in the Settlement, It was also done "to keep up a good feeling
among the half-breeds" to the Hudson's Bay Company ruleozo Good re-
lations were also furthered when the Company employed Red River
settlers to freight the Company's goods. Clare wrote that it would
prove "an extremely popular measure to the settlersy who had "viewed
with very jealous eyes the employment of American labour" by the
Company°21 Perhaps this helps to explain the attitude Qf the Red River
settlers to the American teamsters as observed by Gager.

But the failure of the American teamsters-was not the only reason
why ﬁed River settlers were able to find profitable.employment in the
cart business. The almost complete failure of steam navigation during

this time was a second factor. In fact, the poor people in the

20, Ibid., A. 11/98, Clare to Fraser, January 16, 1865,

21, Ibid., A. 11/98 Clare to Fraser, April 10, 1865,
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Settlement were against steam navigation for three reasons.22 First, if
the steamboat ran regularly, ﬁhey were deprived of the pfofits to be
gained from the cart business. This occupation was particularly sought
after in years when the buffalo hunt or the crops failed. Second, the
wood on the banks of the Red River, which the settlers used, had be-
come scarce as the steamboat had taken much of it for fuel. Third, the
steamboat had an adverse effect on the supply of fish in the Red River,

In 1865, when the International was not rumning regularly, Clare re-

23

ported that there was an abundénce of fish available for the settlers,
It was evident, then, that the settlers welcomed the more exten~
sive use of the Red River carts by the Hudson's Bay Company. In the
sumer of 186J Governor Mactavish dispatched between three and four
hundred carts to get the goods from Georgetown.21P In 1865 and 1866 the
Red River cart brigadescontinued to take the furs and buffalo robes of
the Company and the private traders to Georgetown or St. Paul; they
returned with imports both from England and St. Paul. In 1866 Mactavish
wrote that the imports by way of St, Paul had been received with great
regularity.ZS During this time J. C. Burbank also continued his
~arrangements of transporting goods from England to St., Paul for the

people of Red River.26 Thus St. Paul remained the principal economic

22, Mgr, Tach8, Sketch of the North-West of America (Montreal, 1870),
- Translated from the French by Captain D.R, Cameron, p. 42.

23. AJH.B.C., A, 11/98, Clare to Fraser, April 10, 1865,
24, Ibid., A. 11/97, Mactavish to Smith, July 8, 186k
25, Ibid., A. 12/4), Mactavish to Gov. and Comm., August 22, 1866,

26, MNor'Wester, August 3, 186L4; ibid., April 8, 1865,
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outlet of the Red River Settlement.

There had been some possibility, though, that Superior City would
become an alternative outlet, at least for the Hudson's Bay Company.
In 1865 Kittson, on behalf of the Hudson's Bay Company, had agreed to
repair the Crow Wing and Superior City road. On the other hand, the
interested property holders in Superior City agreed to pay the Company
ten thousand dollars in gdunty tax certificates, and secure for it real
estate t§ the value of fifteen thousand dollars.27 The agreement was
subject to the approval of the Hudson's Bay Company; and the Company
would not begin counstruction until itbreceived the specified payments,
While Kittson thought that this would be a good summer road, he was
willing to admit that it would not measure up to the St. Paul route.

However, by the flall of 1866 nothing had come of the proposed
project., Construction on the réad had not been started by the Hudson's
Bay Company. The small property owners, whq resided in Superior City,
had made a considerable effort to promote the road. Bub the large prop-
erty holders, who were apparently all non-resident, remained indifferent
to the project.28 Kittson brought the matter up once more in the spring
of 1867, But by then Governor Mactavish had lost interest. He was not
inclined to renew negotiations with the property owners at Superior City

because in the end neither they nor the Company would be satisfied with

27. AM.B.C., A. 12/4L, Kittson to Mactavish, December 26, 1865,

28, Ibid., Ao 12/4), Mactavish to Gov. and Comm., August 22, 1866,
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the arrangement.29 Furthermore, Mactavish thought that the proposed
road from Superior City to Crow Wing would require a much larger
expenditure than had been estimated earlier. And so the matter was
dropped.

Another project had come to an end, and it helped to underline the
fact that most of the traffic of Red River still went by way of St. Paul.
On this route the Red River cart had once more emerged as the chief |
means of travel, The cart brigades to St. Paul had indeed survived
the other transportation and communication plans which had been under-
way during this time. It is true, too, that the carts had carried
the freight with reasonable regularity and minimum loss. Nevertheless,
the cart business had survived precariously. In the first place, the
existence of cart travel to St. Paul was partly based on the goodwill
of the Sioux, Between 186} and 1866 the Sioux had, in indefinite
numbers, repeated their visits to the Red River Settlement. There had
been some minor disturbances but no serious collision had taken place.
Nor had much difficulty been experienced enroute to St. Paul on
account of the Sioux. But the Sioux remained a potential danger.

This was evident from the fact that a cart driver was armed with a gun,

powder, and shot.BO Secondly, the revived cart business was also based

29. Ibid., D. 9/1, Mactavish to Kittson, March 25, 1867.

30, W. G. Forseca, "On the St., Paul Trail in the Sixtiesi® Transactions
and Proceedings of the Historical and Scientific Society of '
Manitoba, 1900, no. 56, P« Ls
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on the failure of steém navigation on the Red. ©Should navigation
improve, the cart transport would obviously be checked. Finally, the
cart business was based on the stagnamt economy of Red River. Many
of the half-breeds cared little for f&rming. Since the buffalo hunt and
a small trade in furs offered only part-time employment, the poorer
people in the Settlement augmentéd their small earnings by tripping to-
St Paul. But each year, as the buffalo frontier was pushed farther
southwest, the hunt became more uncertain. It also appeared by the
middle of the 1860's that the fur trade in Red River was about to be
repléced by agricuiture. It was doubtful whether the m€tis would adjust
readily to this new economy. Moreover, it was certain that the Red
River carts could not adequately éerve»the transportation needs of a
grain trade.

But for a few more years the Red River settlers were to f£ind
limited employment by carting to St. Paul. In the immediate future this

employment became more limited because the International once more was

able to ply the waters of the Red. Several trips were made by the
steamboat in 1867, dnd in1868 and 1869 the water in the Red River had
risen enough to allow: regular navigation in the early summer m.onths.31
Despite the fact that the steamboat ran more often, a number of

private traders still carried their freight by carts. Thus during the
last years of the Red River Setitlement, travel on the St, Paul route

was by the Hudson'!s Bay Company'!'s steamboat and by the Red River carts,

3l. AJH.B.C., A. 12/kl, Mactavish to Smith, June 3, 1867; ibid.,
A, 12/15, Mactavish to Smith, July 27, 1868; ibid., A. 12/L5,
Mactavish to Smith, August 31, 1869,
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Until 1866 there was every indication that St, Paul was chiefly
interested in Red River as a source of trade and commerce. On the
other hand, Red River had carried on a large part of its trade with
St. Paul, and had depended on Minnesota for its system of communica-
tions with England and Canada. The obvious connection that had
grown up between St, Paul and the Red River Settlement was an econ-

. omic one, There was, however, a growing uncertainty as to the

future of this British colony in the heart of North America.
Geographically, the Red River Settlement was separated from Canada by
the Canadian Shield; its proximity to the American frontier only
served to emphasize this division., The question was whether a
political character was eventually to be imposed upon the relationship

between Red River and St. Paul,




PART IIT

THE QUESTION OF AMERICAN INTEREST IN RED RIVER, 1866-1870




CHAPTER VIL

TWO DIMENSIONS OF AMERICAN INTEREST, 1866-1868

The St, Paul route had operated to bring about strong commercial
ties between Red River and St. Paul. These trade relations were not
to slacken after 1866. Therefore, one dimension of American interest
in Red River was of an economic nature. This interest was particularly
that of Minnesota, and more specifically that of the St. Paul Chamber
of Commerce,.

But in 1866 a second dimension of American interest was added to
the well-established economic one. The political interest in Red
River, which had always been present in smaller or greater measure,
was now spelled out in terms of annexation,

It is true that the economic and political interests of Americans
in Red River were really closely related. It had always been hoped by
American expansionists that the second would naturally grow out of the
first, But it seemed that the expansionists had become impatient with
the slow way in which geography and the trans-border trade ware working,
Economically and geographically, the Red River valley formed a natural
unit, It was the aim of James Wickes Taylor, the leading expansionist
of the American Northwest, to give this region a uniform political

character. This, of course, was only one aspect of Taylor!s continental
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plan. But if continentalism could have its way in the Red River valley,

a big step would have been taken in the direction of continental union,
"Taylor had not been idle in his position as special agent of the

Treasury Department. On May 20, 1862, the House of Representatives had

adopted a resolution whereby S. P. Chase, Secretary of the Treasury,

was requested to provide the House with information on the relations

between the United States and Northwest British America.l The House

was particularly interested in the central districts of the Red River

of the North and the Saskatchewan. Accordingly, in June Secretary

Chase presented Taylor's extensive report to the House of Representatives.

The report was called Relations Between the United States and Northwest

British America. Thus Taylor had been keeping the federal govermment

informed on the trade going on between . the Red River Settlement and
Minnesota.

Taylor's second opportunity came in 1866, The reciprocity agree-
ment betweeﬁ Camada and the United States had expired in March of that
year., Following this, on March 28, the House of Representatives
passed a resolution requesting a report on the commercial relations of
the United States with British America.2 Again Taylor drew up a

detailed paper on the subject of American trade with the British

1. House Executive Documents, 37 Congress, 2 session, no. 146.

2, Ibid., 39 Congress, 1 session, no. 128,
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colonies, But in the closing pages of his preport, Taylor also
expressed his views on the political relations between the American
Republic and British North America. Nor did he stop here. Included
in his report was a proposition that Congress should pass "An Act for
the admission of the States of Nova Scotia, NeW‘Brunswick, Canada
East, and Canada West, and for the organization of the Territories of
Selkirk, Saskatchewan, and Columbia,"3

It was not long Eefore action was taken on Taylor!s proposal., In
July, 1866, General N. P, Banks, Chairman of the Commiﬁtee of Foreign
Affairs, introduced a bill calling for the annexation of British North
America.to the United States. The bill had been drafted by James W,
Taylor., It not only provided for the admission of the British
colonies, but by the bill the United States proposed to buy the Hud-
son'!s Bay Company'!s territory for ten million dollars. Although the
House of Representatives did not vote on the bill, American news-
papers busied themselves with annexation talk for some time.lP The St.
Paul papers, too, took careful note‘of the Taylor-Banks bill. The

St. Paul Weekly Pioneer carried large headlines announcing the annex—

5

ation measure, but made no comments,

3. lbid.

ke Theodore C, Blegen, "A Plan for the Union of British North America
and the United States;!. The Mississippl Valley Historical Review,
IV (March, 1918), pe 475

5. St. Paul Weekly Pioneer, July 13, 1866,
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There is no doubt that Minnesotans were interested in the
annexation of.ihe British Northwest., However, the Minnesota legis~
lature was nolt to make an open statement until a little later. In
1862 the legislature, in a memorial to Congress, had urged that all
obstacles to the transit of mails, merchanaiée;; and emigrants
along the St. Paul route to Red River should be rem.oved.6 At that
time‘Minnesota had desired none other than commercial relations with
its northern neighbours. On the other hand, the legislature felt
certain that the Americanization of Red River was inevitable if
England would not take measures to bring about effective government
in the Settlement, Now, in 1866, England was still governing Red
River through'the Hudson's Bay Company., And from the pages of the
Nor'Wester, Minnesotans éoncluded that the Settlement was bécoming more
dissatisfied with thié form of-goverpment. However, the Minnesota
legislature did not take any action until after Alexander Ramsey had
made a move in the federal government,

On December 7, 1867, Senator Ramsey intfoduced a bill in the
Senate to restore the reciprocity treaty between Canada and thé United
States, But in return for these reciprocal trade relations, Canada
was asked to cede to the United States that part of British North

America west of ninety degreeS'longitude,7‘ The bill also provided

6. Nor'Wester, February 19, 1862,

7o Senéte‘ﬂiscellaneous Documents, 40 Congress, 2 session, no. 4, in
Ramsey Papers.
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that the United States would pay six million dollars for the lands of
the Hudson's Bay Company. Remsey's bill was not passed. However, it
was an indication that Minnesota was about to také a stand on the
matter of the annexation of the British Northwest.

Recent events related to the British Northwest apparently helped
to touch off action by the legislature of Minnesota. The British
North America Act had been passed in 1867, This Act provided for the
admission of the British Northwest to Canada following an agreement
on the terms of the transfer., The Minnesota legislature now went on
record to state that the principle of self-government had not been
permitted to operate, for the Act had been passed without consulting
the people of the Red River Settlement, ThisAaction by Britain was
made to appear more serious because, as the legislature maintained,
the population of the Settlement consisted largely of emigrants from
the United States., Although this last point was not true, it seems
that Americans generally believed it. None the less, these statements
were made by the Mimnesota legislature in March, 1868, in a resolu-
tion to Congress, urging the annexation of the British Northwesto8
Congress had the resolution printed but remained indifferent to it.9
And with that, Minnesota was to leave the matter of annexation rest

for a while,

8., Mimmesota General Laws, 10 session, March, 1868,

9. D. F. Warner, The Idea of Continental Union (University of Kentucky
Press, 1960), p. 111, _



But all this annexation talk had not gone without comment from
the people of the Red River Settlement. Until 1864 the Nor!'yester -
had frequently come out with editorials on the Americanization of
Red River. Then, in that year, when John Christian Schultz bought a
share in the Nor!'Wester, the tone of the paper changed in this re-
spect, The Nor'Wester said that no one in the Settlement was inter-
ested in union with the United States.lo 1t appeared that Schultz
now tried to correct the erroneous impression that the Nor!Wester
had formerly created. However, just as the matter of Americanization
had ﬁeen greatly overstated before, so Schultz now exaggerated the
anti-American sentiment in Red River. And by 1867 Norman W. Kittson,
who was no amnexationist, was convinced that the "strong editorials™
of the Nor'Wester cquld only harm the relations between St, Paul and
Red River.ll Kittson went so far as to say that the course Schuliz
was taking might possibly lead to a restriction "on the privilege of

12 Whether Kittson was unduly alarmed is not certain,

bonding goods."
But Kittson who had become as at home in Red River as he was in St.
Paul was particularly sensitive to anything that might disrupt the

trade between the two places. Moreover, as special agent of the

10. Nor!Wester, November 2, 186L.

11, P.A;Mo, E. L. Barber Papers, N, W, Kittson to E. L. Barber,
April 30, 1867.

12, Ibid.
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the Hudson!s Bay Company in St. Paul, Kittsonvwas carrying out his
responsibilities to the satisfaction of the Company. It is also
to be remembered that the Hudson'!s Bay Company was still transpori-
ing its goods in bond through thé United States by the St. Paul
route; the same was true of the private traders and their imports,.
But it wasn't Kittson who got the Nor!Wester t§ explain the
enlgmatic course that it was or had been.fdllowing in regard to
American influence., In March, 1868, after the Mimmesota legislature
had passed the resolution calling for the ammexation of the British
Northwest, an editorial in the Nor'!'Wester tried to clear up the
confusion on the étﬁitude of the péopie of the Red River towards
this matter.13 If there had ever been any desire by the Red River

people to be annexed to the United States, the Nor!'Wester said, then

it had been for two reasons. First, the desire, which was not gen-

eral, had arisen from a feeling of despair of being able to arouse
the British govermment from its indifference. Secondly, the whole

idea of annexation had been used by the Nor!Wester as a means "to

hurry on the action of our Home An:t.’oh.or:i.tiesj.!',llF The Nor’WegEggg_then,

had stated its position and had also attempted to indicate the

13, Nor!'Wester, March 30, 1868

14e Ibid,.
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attitudé of the Red Riﬁer people to the idea of union with the United
States., That this was a full and accurate explanation was not to be
expected. While it was reasonably accurate, it was also very gen-
eral., There were already a number of Americans living in Red River,
But at this time their influence was still somewhat obscure. The
discovery as to how this influence would work itself out had to

await future events,

Governor Mactavish was one who expressed strong doubts on the
mabtter of the future of Red River, In the first place, he was
worried that the exbensive use of the St. Paul route by the Settle-
ment and the Hudson's Bay Company would only bring in more Americans.
Therefore . if it had been possible to avoid passing the Company!'s
‘goods through the United States in exchange for an equally advahtage—
ous route, Mactavish would have advised it. But few.wpuld believe
that Red River had a more practicable route than the one by way of
Ste Paul. Thus, apparently overcome by the helplessness of his pos-
ition, Mactavish thought that the best way out for the Hudson's Bay
Company was "to sell the Territory to the Yankees as soon as ﬁhe
Dakotah fills up."l? This opinion, expressed by Mactavish in 1867,
was informed by the belief that England could not hold the Northwest
any longer than the Americans chose to allow.,l6 The fact that

Mactavish was both overworked and not well probably helped to produce

15, AH.B.C., A. 12/4k, Mactavish to Smith, May 29, 1867.

16, Ibid.
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this feeling of resignation, On the other hand, if others in Red River
held the same views, which is not unlikely, it was little wonder.

Meantime, trade between Red River and St., Paul had continued. And
by the summer of 1868, the commercial ties with Red River had again
emerged as the main interest of Minnesota in the Settlement, This was
demonstrated particularly when St. Paul gave economic assistance to Red
River in that year,

The disaster that struck the Red River Settlement in 1868 had been
apprehended by Governor Mactavish in the previous fall. In 1867 the
grasshoppers had done considerable damage to the crops of Red River and
had laid their eggs in the soil of the river lots.l! By July, 1868,
the crops of the Settlement had been completely destroyed by the grass-
hoppers.l8 The buffalo hﬁnt had also been unsuccessful, and so there
were no plain provisions. Mactavish wrote that '"not an ounce of pemmi-
can® had been procured that summer.19 To make the disaster more
complete, the fisheries, the third main soﬁrce of food in Red River,
had also failed. Even the rabbits and the pheasants had disappeared.go

Unless help was received, many families in the Settlement would be

faced with starvation during the coming winter.

17. AJH.B.C., A. 12/4J,, Mactavish to Smith, September 5, 1867,
18, Ibid., A. 12/45, Mactavish to Smith, July 2%, 1868.
19. Ibid., A. 12/L5, Mactavish to Smith, August 11, 1868.

20. Hargrave, Red River, p. 447.
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The call of the Nor!'Wester for relief in August brought contribu~
tions of £ 3000 from England, ${S3600 from Canada, and tﬁe St,. Paul Chémber
of Commerce raised and contributed a sum of %h,332.21 The Council of
Assiniboia voted a sum of £1600 for the relief of the settlers.®® The
funds from Britain, Canada, Mimmesota, and the Hudson's Bay Company
indicated the fourfold interest in the Red River Settiement. In this
case, however, the degree of intefest cannot.be measured by the amount
of each contribution, Nor would such a comparison be of great import-
ance here,

However, in this study it is significant to note the nature of the
response from the St. Paul Chamber of Commerce. Although the Council
of Assiniboia was the first to make its contribution, the Nor!Wester
gratefully observed that the St. Paul Chamber of Commerce had'acted on
the appeal from Red River immediately. A sum of $1,137.25 had been
raised at the first meeting.23 Some of the subscribers and their
donations were: R. Blakely, $100; J.J; Hill, $200; A. Ramsey, $50;
Governor W. R. Marshall, $50; N. W, Kittson, $50; J. C. Burbank,$100; and
J. L., Merriam, $1oo°24 Outside of Senator Ramsey and Governor Marshall,
all the above mentioned contributors were, directly or indirectly, inter-
ested in the carrying trade to Red River. Then the chamber of commerce
appointed a committee to be in charge of the arrangements for relief,

This cmmnittee proceeded to canvass St, Paul for more funds, and made an

21, Ibid., pe. 448; St. Paul Weekly Press, December 2, 1869,

22, Council of Assinibioca, Minutes, August 10, 1868,
23. Nor!Wester, September 22, 1868

2. Tbid.
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appeal to other American cities on behalf of the Red River Settlement.
Among others, two members of the relief committee in St. Paul were
H. He Sibley and Ne W. Kittson. It was Obvioué that Kittson had become
an important link in the relations between St. Paul and Red River. It
was also evident that the St. Paul Chamber of Commerce had put forth
these efforts largely because it was closely allied to Red River
commercially.zS

The disaster at Red River also illustrated how the trade of St.
Paul with the Settlement was of mutual benefit to both. The Red River
Co-operative Relief Committee, which had been organized to buy provis-
ions and distribute these to theigettlers, made arrangements to purchase
seed wheat and flour in St. Paul. By October Norman Kittson had bought
435 bushels of wheat and 285 barrels of flour and had sent the supplies
on to Red River.26 It is noteworthy that the troops at Fort Abercbahﬁie
stored the relief supplies at the fort for some time without charge. St.
Paul friends were happy to learn that the distress in Red River had to
some extent been overcome.

Such, then, was the friendly note of the relations that existed be~
tween St. Paul and the Red River Settlement at the close of 1868. Based

primarily on the trans-border trade and on the commnications of Red

25. St. Paul Daily Dispatch in Nor'Wester, September 22, 1868.
26. GCouncil of Assiniboia, Minutes; October 19, 1868.

27. St. Paul Weekly Piocneer, October 2, 1868.
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River by way of St. Paul, ﬁhese relations represented the real connection
between the Settlement and Minnesota., And this connection had firmly
linked the two communities for over a decade now, Despite the fact that
the two communities had not been drawn together politically, the last

two years had witnessed a growing American interest in the ammexation

of the British Northwest. But in the latter part of 1868, the idea of
annexation had found little support in the United States, Moreover,

by that year it was generally recognized by all parties concerned that
Rupert!s Land would likely be transferred to Canada. Thus the end

of 1868 saw the Red River Settlement allied to Minnesota conmercially,

and moving towards Canada politically.




CHAPTER VIIT

INTERNATIONAL RATLWAY, AMERICAN CONSUILATE, 1869

Although Americans were anticipating that the British Northwest
would become part of Canada, they did not lose interest in the Red
River Settlement. Besides the trade of Minnesota with Red River,
this interest was demonstrated in at least two ways in 1869. In the
first place, the indefatigable James Wickes Taylor once more revived
the idea of an international railway through Red River to the Pacific,
Secondly, an American consulate was established in the Red River
Settlement, With negqtiations for the transfer of Rupertt's Land to
Camada being carried forward by Canada, Britain, and the Hudson's Bay
Company, the year 1869 promised to be an eventful one for Red River.

Taylorts idea 6f: an international railway was not new, It had
béen one of the main themes of his report to the Minnesota House of
Representatives in 1860, At that time the St, Paul Chamber of Commerce
had shown considerable interest in the proposed line, Toronto, how-
ever, was less enthusiastic. The fact was that both cities were
financially unable to take up the costly enterprise, Furthermore, as
long as the Hudson!s Bay Company rule had extended over the Northwest,
both railways and éettlement had not been encouraged., Bub now, in
1869, it appeared certain that the Northwest would at last be opened

to settlement.,
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Meantime, Taylor had been in constant touch with the railway de-
velopment in the United States.l In 1867 he had represented the
Northern Pacific Rallroad at business conyentioné in easbtern American
cities., Then, in 1869? Taylor began to do some work as a press agent
for the Northern Pacific, Moreover, he was still giving needed pub-
licity to the St. Paul ahd Pacific Railroad, which in 1864 had been
reorganized under the First Division of the St. Paul and Pacific
Railroad. Thus Taylor was in contact with eastern railway interests, as
well as those of the American Northwest.

To promote the project of an international Pacific line, Taylor
appealed to the United States government and American reilway interests,
Canada, and the Hudson's Bay Company. His approach varied according to
the special interests of each party.

If the line was to succeed at all, it would have to have the support
of the Philadelphia banker, Jay Cooke, who had undertaken to promote
the Northern Pacific in the spring of 1869. Early in May Taylor wrote
to Cooke, outlining the wey in which the interests of the Northern

Pacific would be served by an international 1ine°2 In the first place,

1. Irwin, Pacific Railways and Nationalism in the Canadian-American
Northwest, 18,5-1873, p. 129..

2., Taylor Papers, Taylor to Jay Cooke, May 5, 1869,
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‘Taylor argued, Canada had no choice but to build a railway from Fort
Garry to the Pacific Coast; if this measure was declined by Canada,
the Canadian West would declare for ammexation to the United States.
Taylor emphasized this point by saying that "a railroad is the sole.
and imperative condition of Eﬁglish dominion in the Northwest."3
Furthermore, Taylor was convinced that the eastward extension of this
line to Canada by a route north of Lake Superior would not take .=~
place within the century, Thereforé, the Canadian line would have to
depend upon the Northern Pacific for an outlet at Fort Garry. On the
other hand, there was still the possibility that the United States
would demand that Britain cede the territory west of ninety degrees
longitude in settlement of the Alabama claims, Should this occur,
the route of the Northern Pacific would likely pass through northern
Minnesota, Fort Garry, and by the Saskatchewan valley to the Pacific.
According to this reasoning, the Northern Pacific would draw the
trade and wealth from the Northwest regardiess of whether the terri-
tory was in Canadian or American hands. These seemed to be convincing
arguments, but it was not certain that they would persuvade Jay Cooke
to begin construction of the line from the East.

The idea of an international railway was also of importance to
Minnesota, By 1867 the First Division of the St. Paul and Pacific
Railroad had completed its line to St., Cloud. From here the railway
was now being projected in a northwesterly direction towards

Breckenridge on the Red River of the North. And from Breckenridge the

S5t., Paul and Pacific hoped to run its line north to Fort Garry.
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Therefore, Taylor was also in éontact with the president, G. L. Begker,
and the vice-president, E., D. Litchfield, of the St. Paul and Pacificoh
Minnesota had been drawing the trade from the Red River region by
means of Red River carts and by steamboab; now it saw prospects of
doing this by a railway.

Taylor had not forgotten to write President Ulysses S. Grant on
the subject of an international railway.5 Since Grant was an expansion-
ist,6 Taylor counted on some support from this quarter.

However, Canada would also have to be won over to the idea of an
international route, In a letter to Joseph Howe, Taylor put emphasis
on what he called his "Canadian policy." Taylor said that he had "come
to regard Confederation as a fact accomplished, which England will
not recall."7 He pointed out to Howe that Canada would be well advised
to limit construction of the railway to the section between Fort Garry
and the Pacific., The railroads of Michigan, Wisconsin, and Mimmesota
would assume responsibility for the eastern section between Sarnia and
the Red River Settlement, But Howels reply to this proposal was

8 .
discouraging., C. J. Brydges, manager of the Grand Trunk Railway, was

ke Taylor Papers, Taylor to Eg¢ DicLitchfield, Miy 5, 1869,
5, 1Ibid. ‘

6. Warner, The Idea of Continental Union, p. 96.

7. Taylor Papers, Taylor to J., Howe, May 4, 1869,
8, Ibid., Howe to Taylor, May 24, 1869,
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no more hopeful,9 Thus Canadians did not seem to favour the proposed
international line, Nor was it any wonder, for John A. Macdonald was
convinced that a Pacific railway by an all-Canadian route was the
only way to hold the West,

But James Taylor had also approached the Hudson's Bay Company
through Normen W, Kittson.lo Taylor's international.line was to run
west from Lake Superior to about the‘area of Breckenridge, from where
it would follow the cart trail to Fort Garry., Thus the St, Paul
route would become §till more advantagedus to the Company. .Of course,
Taylor did not exclude the idea that the whole Northwest might be
ceded by Britain to the United States. In that event, he thought

that a clause could be inserted in the treabty, giving the Hudson's
11 '

Bay Company five million dollars for its landsa. But when the.Hud~
son's Bay Company did not reply immediately, Ta&i@r"offered his
services to the Company in more specific terms.l2 For a salary of
fifty dollars per month, he declared himself willing to represent the

Company's interests in any negotiations that might involve the United

States., Taylor had also discussed the matter personally with Gover-

nor Mactavish, but the latter had not committed the Company in any waya.

9. Ibid., C. J. Brydges to Taylor, May, 19, 1869,
10, A H.B.C., A. 12/45, Taylor to Kittson, May 15, 1869.
11. Ibid.

12, AJH.B.C., A. 12/45, Taylor to Kittson, June 7, 1869,

13, Ibid., A. 12/45, Mactavish to Smith, June 7, 1869,

13



And by August,kit was apparent that the governor and committee in
London had not accepted the services of Ta,y'lor'.llP
By the fall of 1869, the chances of an international railway
through the Red River Settlement were quite remote, if, indeed,  they

had ever been more than that., Jay Cooke had still not decided to
support the line, Taylor wrote G. L. Becker that the responses from
all the "parties were notemcouragigg.%lE However, Taylor was not to
be discouraged so easily. If the idea of an international route had
met with failure, American railways could still hope to draw trade
from.the Canadian West,

Meanwhile, the United States government had been taking steps
| to appbint an American consul at Winnipeg, the commercial centre in
the Red River Settlement. When this news reached Red River, there
was immedisate speculation as to who would receive the appointment,
It appears that the Canadian party was most concerned. Walter Robert
Bown~, who had taken over the NortWester from Schultz in 1868, ex-
pressed his concern to Senator Aléxander Ramsey in a letter early in
1869.16 TBown informed Ramsey that the half-breeds had been holding
secrtmeetings for the past two months., These meetings had taken

place after John A. Snow!s party of Canadian workmen arrived in Red

River in the fall of 1868. The Canadian government had sent Snow

1h. Ibid., A, 12/45, Mactavish to Smith, August 2§, 1869,
15. Taylor Papers, Taylor to G. L. Becker, October 23, 1869.

16, Ramsey Pavers, W. R. I'Bown to Ramsey, February 23, 1869.

107.
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west to begin the construction of a road between Fort Garry and the
Lake of the'Woods.;7 The association of the workmen with the
Canadian party in Red River had aroused the suspicion of the half-
breeds, The fact that actual meetings were beilng held was.probably
due to the return of the younger Louls Riel to Red River in the
summer of 1868, Because of this new unrest in the Settlement, Bown
recommended to Ramsey that an American citizen resident in Red River
should be appointed as the consulaf agent, Such a person would have
the possible advantage of having a quietening influence over the
half-breeds., The person whom iBown suggested was William Gomez
Fonseca,

In the hope of getting the position of the new consulate, Fonseca
had also written to Ramsey. Fonseca felt that he could help to avoid
a collision between the métis and the English settlers because he was
acquainted with the circumstances in Red River, Moreover, Fonseca
thought that he was particularly well fitted for the post bécause he
was related to the half-breeds through his wife.18 There were others

who were hoping that Fonseca would get the appointment. One was the

17. Although Governor Mactavish thought that the road would:.hot
amount to much, he felt that the Hudson's Bay Company might
still be able to make some use of it, See A.H.B.C.,

A, 11/98, Mactavish to Gov. and Comm,, November 11, 1868,

18, Ramsey Papers, W. G. Fonseca to Ramsey, February 23, 1869.
Fonseca had written Ramsey that the half-breeds were about to
elect a president to secure unity of action. According to
Fonseca, the person whom the half-breeds had in mind for this
position was the Uncle of Mrs. Fonseca. It would seem likely,
though no evidence has been found, that this person was
John Bruce,



109.

Bishop of Rupert'!s Land%9and another was Archdeacon John McLean,
Warden of St. John!s College. There appear to be several reasons

why the Canadian party as well as others in Red River were so much

in favour of Fonseca. First, it was obvious that Fonseca was not

an amexationist. Second, he was on friendly terms with the Canadians.
Should Fonseca receive the appointment, there seemed to be less possi-~
bility that the Americans in the Settlement would interfere in the
coming events,

However, a number of Americans in Red River were against the
proposed appointment of Fonseca. This did not mean that they were all
annexationists. In a letter to the Nor'Wester which was signed by
twenty Americanccitizens theilr position’was partly made clear.zo In
the first place, they did not think that Fonseca would give satisfac-
tion either to the United States government or to the Americans in Red
River., Furthemore, they maintained that the Americans in Red River
were not as numerous as the Nor!Wester had seemed to imply. The
Americans were naturally drawn ﬁogether by their common citizenship.
But what they were mainly concerned about nowwes that the American
¢onsul, whoever he might be, would fairly look after their interests as

American citizeris,

19. Ibid., Bishop of Rupert!s Land to Ramsey, April 3, 1869.

20 Nor'Wester, April 3, 1869.
The .letter had been signed by: H. W. Hanford, E. L. Barber,
H. F. O'Lone, R. H. McLaughlin, H. Eck, W. Porter, J. Treston,
G, Moser, G. B, Winship, P. Morneau, R, C. Burdick, A, H. Scott,
H. S. Donaldson, A, R. Gerald, J. C. Kemnnedy, W. H, Cosgrove,
J. Lemmon, R. Patterson, G. Emmerling, and J. Grimshall.
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Only one of the Americans who had signed the letter to the
Nor!'ilester was reported to have openly advocated annexation to the
United StaieSQZl This was George Emmerling. It was Emmerling, in
a letter to Oscar Malmroé, ﬁhe person actually to become first
American €onsul at Winnipeg, who revealed another reason why the
Americans objected to Fonseca.22 Emmerling believed that the Can-
adian party would use Fonseca to further union with Canada., There-~
fore, Malmros was urged to defeat the appointment of Fonseca.r This
letter was then passed on to Senator Ramsey by Malmros. Whether this
letter was a decisive factor in dropping Fonseca is not certain.
Perhaps Ramsey never considered the Canadian party's choice seriously.
Nevertheless, by the end of June Malmros had accepﬁed the American
consulship at Y/xl':'l.rmipeg',23

Oscar Malmros had résided in St. Paul since 1853, and had
served under General H. H, Sibley in the Sioux carnpa:i.grls,,ZLP It
would seem, therefore, that Malmros had some knowledge of Red River
before he arrived in the village of Winnipeg on August 13, 1869. The
Americans in the Settlement celebrated his arrival by raising the
American flag and by a gun salute, They were not the only ones to

welcome him, Malmros reported that ﬁhe subjects of the colony' had

2l. Hargrave, Red River, p. LOZ,
22, Ramsey Papers, G. Emmerling to 0. Malmros, April 3, 1869.

23+ Taylor Papers, J. C. B, Davis to Malmros, June 2L, 1869,

2L, Morton, ed,, Alexander Begg'!s Journal and Other Papers  Relative
to the Red River Resistance, p. 187.
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had honoured his arrival "by raising the Dominion flag?hzs And
soon he wag discharging his official duties at the consular office
in Emmerling's Hotel.26

Thus by the fall of 1869, American interest in Red River had
further been manifested by the opening of a consulate in Winnipeg.
This step took into account the fact that there were Amefican citi-
zens with commercial interests in the Settlement., In present
circumstances, however, when Rupert's Land was on the eve of being
transferred to Canada, the neW'consﬁlate could possibly have a
broader meaning. But this was to remain somewhat obscure, at least
in the beginning., Also of American origin, gt this time, had been the
idea of an international railway through Red River. Although the
idea had not come to fruition, it had anticipated trade between the
United States and a Canadian'Wést. And thisvcommerce was to be
chamneled, in part, along the St, Paul route. But even if the inter-
national line had failed, the approach of American railways indicated

that the north-south flow of trade would probably continue.

vy

25+ P.AM., Department of State, Consular Despatches, Winnipeg, I,
Malmros to Sec, of State, August 15, 1869,

26. Nor'Wester, August 24, 1869.



CHAPTER IX

- IHE ST, PAUL ROUTE REMATNS AN ECONOMIC CONNECTION, 1869=1870

From the last months in 1869 through the first part of 1870,
American interest in the Red River Settlement reached a new peak. Until
this time Americans had reason to believe that the north-south trade
in Red River valley would remain an international one. Negotiations for
the transfer of the British Northwest to Canada had almost been com
pleted. December 1, 1869, had been set as the date when the transfer
-would become effective. Minnesota was looking forward to an increased
trade>with the Red River region; which was soon to be opened to settleQ
ment by Canada. But when the Red River Qéggg_rose to resist the trans-
fer to Canada, Aﬁerican interest turned, though only in part, to annexa-
tion. The American annexationist hopes, which were never to be organized
into a ﬁnited movement , were based mainly on two things. In the first
place, it was thought, or hoped, that the gé&ég resistance was really a
movement to have Red River annexed to the United States. Secondly, a
number of Americans believed that the St. Paul route had operated to
Americanize the Red Rivef people. The coming events were to disclose,
however, that the Red River people,.although they were content to main-
tain their economic relations with Minnesota, were not desirous of
political union with the-Unitedetates.

On October 19, 1869, the mé%is closed the St. Paul route. A barrier
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was erected at the Rividre Sale in the vicinity of St. Norbert. The
road to Pembina was blocked by armed m8tis. This action, however, was
not meant to break off relations with St. Paul. Rather the barrier

was intended to prevent the entry of William McDougall, who had been
appointed Lieutenant~Governor of the North-West Territory, into the
Settlement. And on October 31; an armed party escorted McDougall across
the boundaryto Pembina.

The stopping of Mchﬁgall had been directed by Louis Riel, secre-
tary of the newly organized National Committee of the metis. A native
of Red River, educated in Montreal, and with two years residence in the
United States, the twenty=four year old Riel now assumed the leadership
of the métis resistance. The reasons for the resistance were clearly
stated by Riel at a meeting of the Council of Assiniboia. First, Riel
said, the métis. "objected to any Government coming from Caﬁada without
their being consulted in the matter."l Sécond, admittance would only be
granted to a Governor from Canada on the condition that Canadian dele-
gates would be sent to negotiate with the Red River people "the terms"
under which the new government was to be established.2 But there was
another reason for the outbréak of the netis disturbances. This was
explained by Governor Mactavish. He said that the half-breeds! distrust

had arisen from their belief "that every Canadian official as he

1. Council of Assiniboia, Mimutes, October 25, 1869.

2. Ibid.
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arrived was too intimate with Doctor Schultz and his party."3 Because
the pftis did not trust Schultz, they were suspicious of any Canadians
who appeared to be on friendly terms with him. Here, then, were the
causes of the resistance to Canada. It was also clear that Riel inten-
ded to open negotiations with Canada.

But Oscar Malmros, the American consul, was not disposed to under-
stand the intent of the m€tis resistance in this way. He wrote the
assistant secretary of state, J. C. B. Davis, that "in a short time
the country will be a unit in a favoﬁr of independence i.e. annexation
to the U.S.“h Such news was to get a mixed reception in Washington and
in St. Paul. |

In Washington Senator Ramsey, early in December, introduced a
resolution whereby the President was asked to communicate to the Senate
information related to McDougall's presence at Pembina and the resistance
of the halﬁ-breeds.5 Ramsey triéd to create enthusiasm for his motion
by pointing out that Minnesota carried on an extensive trade with the Red
River people. Therefore, the tfoubles in the Settlement were of consider-
able importance to the United States. On the other hand, Senator Howard

thought that the transfer of Rupert!s land to Canada did not involve the

United States in any way. Furthermore, he said that "the less we have to coa ot

do with the subject the betﬁer it will be for all parties."6 Senator

36 AsHeBeCo, Ae 12/L5, Mactavish to Smith, September 7, 1869.

L. Department of State, Consular Despatches, Winnipeg, I, Malmros, to
Davis, November 6, 1869.

5. Congressional Globe, 41 Congress, 2 session, part 1, p. 3.

6. Ibid., ppe 2%30.
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Charles Summer, who had earlier suggested that Britain cede Canada to
the United States, at first objected to Ramsey's motion but later agreed
to it. Summer was an Eastern expansionist, and he did not seem to be
very interested in the British Northwest. That the annexation feeling
in the United States was §¢ctional was only too obvious.7 Nevertheless,
the resolution was passed,.but Congress did nothing with the information
submitted by President Grant.

However , Washington was noﬁ to remain wholly indifferent to the
events at Red River. On December 30, 1869, James Wickes Taylor was
appointed special agent of the State Department for a period of six
months.8 Among the numercus duties assigned to him, Taylor was to in=
form Hamilton Fish, the Secretary of State, on details of the Red River
resistance and'the commuﬁication routes of the Settlement. Under no
circumstances, however, was Taylor to make any of this information
public. His secret commission, then, was intended to keep the adminis-
tration in Washington quietly informed on the affairs at Red River.

In St. Paul interest in the m&tis resistance wan high. On the
evening of December 1, 1869, the St. Paul Chamber of Commerce held a
pﬁblic meeting in Ingersoll Hall to discuss this question.9 The meeting
was chaired by Je C. Burbank, president of the chamber of commerce. In

his opening remarks, Burbank reminded the crowded‘hall of two of the many

7. Warner, The Idea of Continental Union, p. 1lhl.
8. Taylor Papers, Hamilton Fish to Taylor, December 30, 1869.

9. St. Paul Weekly Press, December 2, 1869.
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ways by which the chamber of commerce had shown an interest in Red River
in the past. One was the opening of steam navigation on the Red in
1859, and the second was the relief funds that had been sent to the
Settlement in the fall and winter of 1868.10 However, Burbank gave no
indication that he was interested in the amnexation of the Red River
region. At the same time he realized that!there were two sides to the
question. Therefore, the rest of that evening wés devoted to listening
to the annexationist speech of Ignatius Donnelly. According to Burbank,
the other point of view:was also to be heard. However, it has proved
impossible to find any evidence of a second meeting where this was to be
done. Despite the fact that there might not have been another meeting,
it would seem reasonable to conclude from Burbank!s remarks that part
of the audiehce, at least, was interested in Red River mainly for commer-
cial reasons. Moreover, it would appear that Burbank was not an annexa=~
tionist. It is not easy to discern where one inteeest stops and the
other begins. But if one may judge by the general behaviour of Burbank
in the Red Rivef carrying trade, then he mst have been motivated largely
by business interests. It should also be remembered that Donnelly was
not alone in his drive for amnexation. What Donnelly was not able to
accomplish by his oratory, Joseph Wheelock, editor of the St. Paul
Daily Press, tried to do by his strong annexationkst editorials.
There were other American newspapers that were urging annexation.

One of these was the New York Times. It pointed out that American in-

fluences had been operating in the Red River region for a long time.

10. Ibid.
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Minnesota had established the means of communication to Red River. The
stage ecoach and the steamboat had provided the Settlement with transport-
ation facilities for both mails and commerce. All these, sald the Times,
are powerful agencies in the work of Americanizing the people."ll There-
fore, it concluded, allowance would have to be made for these influences
when the causes of the métis resistance were being considered. This
idea of Americanization, of course, was that which the Nor'Wester had
been printing until 186L. But whereas the Red River newspéper had used it
to produce action from Britain and Canadd, the Times was now using the
same argument to inspire American annexationists,

Such were a few of the early comments and the first reactions to
the Red River resistance from the United States, It was clear that
American interest was of a diversified nature. In Washington Senator
Ramsey was abtempting to enlist support for a stronger ammexation policy.
The Grant administration was interested, but it wished to remain a quiet
observer, In St., Paul the‘interest ranged from the outspoken annexs-
tionism of Donnelly and Wheelock to the less noisy, but more enduring,
commercial interests of the St. Paul merchanbs. What they all had in
common, though, was that in the final analysis the‘wishes of the Red
River people would still be respected,

But in Red River a cloud seemed to hang over the real course that
the people were following, In retrospect it is not difficult to see
that Riel and the provisional govermment, which had been set up in

February, 1870, were all along slowly proceeding in their negotiations

11, New York Times, in Toronto Globe, December 30, 1869.
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with Canada. WNor had Canada failedor to respond. One of the first
important steps of the Canadian government had been to order the re—
call of William McDougall. Then, in January, the delegates of the
Canadian government, Colonel de Salaberry, Grand Vicar Thibault, and
Donald A. Smith of the Hudson'!s Bay Company, had assured the Red River
people that Canada intended td treat liberally with them. By the end
of March the provisional government had sent its representatives,
Judge John Black, Father N. J. Ritchot, and Alfred H. Scott, with a
list of rights to Ottawa. In Ottawa the terms of the transfer, which
had not taken place on December 1, 1869, were incorporated in the
Manitoba bill in May, 1870. And on July 15, by the proclamation of
the Manitoba Act, the Red River Settlement became part of the province
of Manitoba.

Before all this had come to pass, however, the Americans in the
Settlement had taken an active interest in the hotly debated issues of
that cold winter in Red River. The main persons who seemed to be,
directly or indirectly, involvedbin promoting a necessarily restrained
annexation policy were Oscar Malmros, Major Henry M. Robinson, and
William B. O!Donoghue.

Oscér Mélmros was obliged to exercise the greatest restraint. His
.success in maintaining this attitude, however, was greater at the begin-
ning of the resistance than later on. In November, 1869, Malmros wrote
that he had "continued to observe perfeét neutrality in relation to the

politics of this country.“l2 Moreover, he had advised the Americans in

12. Department of State, Consular Despatches, Winnipeg, I, Malmros to
Davis, November 6, 1869.
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the Settlement not to interfere in the political affairs of Red River,
Alexander Begg noted in his Journal that the American consul had tried
to convince Riel to allow the Hudson's Bay Company govermment to con=
tinue until the transfer took place.13 Bubt by the end of'December,
Begg suspected that Malmros was working with Rielt's party.llp Malmros
had failed to ewmimehend the true purpose of Riel, and, therefore,‘the
consul was encouraged to hope for annexation to the United States,.
To Senator Ramsey, Malmros admitted that he was "more than a mere
looker on}"% however, if annexation should be achieved, the consul's
position would not permit him to claim any credit for his "share in
the work?,'® Malmros had contributed to the cause by dictating the
editorials on annexation in the first issues of the New Nation, the
newspaper which had appeared when Riel suppressed the Nor"Wéster.l6
However, the double role that Malmros was playing soon led to
frustration. In the first place, his expectation that the Department
of State would allow him to act in a political capacity was not real=
ized.17 Secondly, Malmros waé not granted permission to récognize
Riel!'s provisional govermment as the official governing body in Red

River.18 Finally, the consul!s position had become intolerable when

13. Morton, ed., Alexander Begg!s Journal and Other Papers Relative to
the Red River Resistance, p. 187.

1h. Ibid., e 245, ' |
15, Ramsey Papers, Malmros to Ramsey, January 6, 1870.

16. Ibid,
17. Ibid.

18, Department of State, Consular Despatches, Winnipeg, I, Malmros to
Davis, March 12, 1870; Taylor Papers, Davis to Malmros, April 6,
1870,
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the Department of State published somé of his letters from Red Rivero19
On March 16, 1870, Malmros left the Settlement, and through the influ~
ence of Senator Ramsey was transferred to the American consuiate in
Pictou, Nova Scotia.20

Major H. M. Robinson, who was now appointed the vice-consul in
Wimnipeg, had briefly urged annexation ﬁo the United States upon being
made the first editor of the New Nation. His editorials, which had
been written with the help of Malmros, were based on the familiar idea
that the communications system of Red River through Minnesota indica-

2l But soon Riel had

ted the manifest destiny of the Settlement,
brought the paper under his control and had suppressed all articles
that favoured annexation., And by the end of March, the editorship of
the New Nation had passed to Thomas Spence, Since the new editor was
a Cahadian; there was 1little danger that the idea of union with the
American Republic would find ifs way into the pages of the New Nation.
Furthermore, Robinson, in the American consulate, was content to re-
strict himself to serving the commercial interests of the American
citizens, He had thought that Riel intended to declare for annexabion
to the United States, but this had proved to be an illusory hope.

In fact, it had been evident by the middle of January that Riel

had largely rejected the annexationist overtures from the Americans.22

19, Ramsey Papers, Malmros to Ramsey, March 15, 1870,

20, M,H.S., Diary of Alexander Ramsey, May 17, 1870,
2l. New Nation, January 7, 1870; January 14, 1870; January 21, 1870,

22, Morton, op. cit., pp. 87-88, 261,
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This did not mean that he was on unfriendly terms with them after that,
On the contrary, Riel valued their friendship. Riel assured Donald

A, Smith that although he had not been led by the Americans, they had
23

been "better friends" than the Canadians. Nor was Riel opposed to
giving his Ameriqan friends official duties in Rgd River during this
time, William B, O'Donoghue, who had come to St. Boniface as a
school teacher in 1868, became the treasurer of the provisiohal govern-
ment. Although O!'Donoghue had spoken for annexation to the United
States at the Fort Garry convention, Riel had not been much disturbed
by this lone voice.21+ But in April, when Riel had given orders to have
the Union Jack flown at Fort Garry, OfDonoghue had promptly ordered
it to be taken down., The outcome of this dispute, in which O'Donog~
huel!s annexationist activities were sharply criticized by Riel, was
that the British flag remained on the flagstaff¢25 Now all Red

River could see that Iouis Riel, who had often declared his loyalty

as a British subject but had not always been believed, was openly
signifying that he was loyal to the British Crown. The friendship
between Riel and O'Donoghue had not been broken, but it was more

strained after this.

23. Canada: Sesgional Papers, ITI, no, 12, 1870, Report of Donald
A Smith, April 12, 1870,

2Le New Nation, February 11, 1870,

25. Morton, op. cit., p. 360,
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On the fringes of this small group of amnexationists were such
men as Captain H., S. Donaldson and George Emmerling. Captain
Donaldson had taken part in the Sioux campaigh in Mimnesota, during
which fime he had paid a number of visits to the Red River Settlement,
Later he had come to live in Red River., Donaldson identified hime
self as an amnexationist, but his influence or efforts in this |

. direction do not seem to have been very great, Emmerling, on the other
hand, must have had considerable influence on Tthe Americans who chose
to make his hotel a gathering place, The American flag flying from the
hotel left no doubt as to the sympathies of George Emmerling,

It is to be remembered, though, that the relabions‘between
Americans and the Red River people.were generally friendly, This
goodwill, however, was not based on common political aims; it was more
related to the economic activities in Red River., E. L. Barber and
W. G, Fonseca were two American merchants who had traded in Red River
since the beginning of the 1860's., Barber had built up a small trade
in the Settlement, and his carts were a familiar sight on the St. Paul
route, There is evidence that Barber was a friend of James Ross who
was working for union with Canada,26 But this does not mean that
Barber took part in the movement for union with Canada. Nor does he
appear to have attemplted to further annexation to the United States.

By taking a neutral stand, American merchants in Red River had the

26, Barber Papers, J. Ross to E, L. Barber, September 17, 1870,
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best opportunity of prospering. Fonseca was anothér American who had
gradually expanded his trade in Red River. But Fonseca, while he was a
loyal American citizen, was not against entering into activities by
which the Red River people indicated their loyalty to the British
Crown. On Januvary 24, 1876, he was the secretary of a meeting held in
St. John's School, where the people adopted a resolution declaring
théir allegiance to England,27 No doubt Fonsecal's part in this was
simply a gesture showing his intention to live peaceably in Red River.
It was these American merchants, who evidently remained quiet during
the vwhole resistance, that were probably a greater influence on the
Red River people than the small group of annexationists in Winnipeg.
Moreover, some American merchants were quite content to remain in
Red River after it was united with Canada. For example, Fonseca stayed
and built up an extensive business., On the other hand, George Emmer-
ling sold his hotel in the summer of>1870, and it appears that he soon
left Red River., In a sense the departure of some of these amexation-
ists was symbolic of the failure of Red'River to respond to the appeal
of political union to the United States.

Not to be overloqked in the matter of American interest during
this time was Pembina. But here, too, as in Red River, the Americans
did not follow a wommon policy in regard to the métis resistance,

First, there were a few annexationists , of whom Colonel Enos

27. P.AM., Alexander Ross Family Papers, W. G. Fonseca to J, Ross,
January 24, 1870.




Stutsman was chief. Stutsman had come ﬁo Pembina in 1866 as an agent
of the United States Treasury Department, During the height of the
Pesistance, Stutsman made a number of calls on Louis Riel at Fort
Garny.zg However, Stutsman's visits to the métis leader do not seem
to have swayed Riel from hié course. Furthermore, Stutsman was one
of the correspondents for the St. Paul Daily Press. From the fre-
guent, but distorted, accounts of the resistance that Stutsman sént
to St. Paul, it was obvious that he was an annexationist, On the other
hand, N. E. Nelson, the deputy collector of customs at Pembina, main-
tained a neutral position throughout the Red River troubles. Since
Nelson was also given this testimony by'williamMcDougall,z9 who no
doubt was hypersensitive to American ammexationists, the fact that
Nelson's conduct was correct seems fairly certain.

The Americans in the Red River Settlement and in Pembina, then,
were not one in their attitude towards the resistance.» There had been
some who had made a bold attempt to further_anneXation; these-were
Stutsman, Malmros, O'Donoghue; and Robinson, Even here there didn't
seem to be any unity of action, and when the others had already ceased
their efforts, O'Donoghue carried on alone, A number of Americans,

though, had followed the early instructions of Malmros and had not.become

28, Morton, op. cit., pp. 192, 237; P.AM., Louis Riel Papers,
Stutsmen to "General', January 20, 1870,

29, QCanada: Sessional Papers, III, no, 12, W. MeDougall to N. E.
Nelson, December 8, 1869,



125,

involved. However; these had obviously been motivated by more than
the words of precaution from Malmros. Barber and Fonseca, to mention
only those of whom some evidence has been found, did not oppose union
with Canada. Their main interest which was trade would be served re—~
gardless of whether the West was settled by Canadians or Americans,
Furthermore, N, E. Nelson had helped to keep the border village of
Pembina quiet. His official duties to his own government were per—
formed efficiently and conscientiously; on the other hand, the fact
that he had not given countenance to the Eéﬁiﬁ resistance in any way
was evidence of Nelson's correct behaviour. The outcome of the re-
sistance, of course, did not solely depend on the attitude of the
Americgns in Pembina and Red River. Their presen;é was only one fac-
tor in the Red River troubles. Because the amnexationists had made
no great attempt to precipibate union with the United States, the im-
portance of the American factor was further diminished. And by spring
of 1870, amnexation was little more than a lingering hope in the
minds of a few Ameriéans in Red River.

But the expansionists in the United States, who were farther re-
moved from the facts, dared to hope awhile longer. What the Red
River carts and the steamboat had not been able to achleve on the St.
Paul route was now to be done by railways, An American rail connect-
ion with Red River might yet result in bringing the British Northwest

into the political orbit of the United States, On April 24, 1870, a
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party of Americans, representing the Northern Pacific Railroad,
arrived in Red River.BO The party was led by ex-~Governor W. R.
Marshall of Minnesota, and it included his brother—in—law, N. P,
Langford, Marshall had been sent to Red River by Jay Cooke who had
assumed the financial agency of the Northern Pacific by the begimning
§f 1870,31 Cooke had now decided to construct a line from a point
some twenty-five miles west of Duluth to the Red River of the North
at Georgetown°32 Furthermore, in the spring of 1870, the Northern
Pacific'had bought the controlling interest in the First Division of
the St. Paul and Pacific Railroad. The St. Paul and Pacific which was
planning to build to Pembina would thus provide the Northern Pacific
with a branch line to draw trade from the Red River region.

During his stay in Red River, Marshall had paid formal visits to
Louis Qiel and Governor Mactavish.33 What was said during Marshall's
interview with Mactavish is not known. But Riel had given the

American party to understand that the Red River people did not desire

34

to be annexed to the United States, Marshall had also talked to

O'Donoghue, It was not long before O!'Donoghue had admitted that he had

30, Morton, op. cit., pp. 362-363.

31. Taylor Papers, Taylor to C. J. Brydges, January 12, 1870,
32. Ibid.

33. New Nation, April 29, 1870,

34. Taylor Papers, N. P, Langford to Taylor, July 10, 1870.
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not dropped the idea of amnexation. But if the Canadian government
granted favourable terms to Red River, O'Donoghue felt that he must
tkeep good faith with Canada."35 Thus the Marshall party left the
Settlement with the knowledge that fhe Red River people would prob-
ably not make any move to convert the'Sto Paul route into a political .
connection,

However, Senator Ramsey was not to be discouraged by this attitude
in Red River. On May 16, 1870,kCongress passed a bill granting lands
to the First Division of the St. Paul and Pacific Railroad for the
construction of a line to Pembina. Ramsey had been urging the passage
of this bill for some time, and he thought that it would be "the best
political stroke in the world."36 James'WickeS Taylor put the same
idea in-clearer terms. He was convinced that with the extension of
this line to the forty-ninth parallel, "no Canadian scheme could pre-
vent the Americanization of the Northwest."37 These, then, were the
hopes of the American expansionists as they made plans to push a
railway to within easy reach of Red River, There still seemed to be

a chance that the St. Paul route would be given a political character,

35, Ibid. ,
36, (Congressional Globe, 41 Congress, & session, part L, p. 3331.

37. P.AM., Letters Received by State Department from Agent for
Red River Affairs, Taylor to Fish, June 27, 1870.
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But the Red River Settlement, as a British colony, was to be spared
the political problems that the railways were to bring. These prob-—
lems were to fall to‘the lot of the province of Manitoba.

Although the St. Paul route had not led to political ties between
Minnesota and Red River, the possibility had, nevertheless, been a |
real one to the people of tﬁe Settlement.b'There is evidence that this
had become a growing concern of Governor Mactavish. And on the eve
of his departure from Red River in May, 1870, these thoughts were
still strong in the mind of Mactavish, He wrote that British indiffer-
ence had led the Red River people to expect that UYthe 1nev1table
destiny of this country was polltlcally linked with the United States."38
This expectation had been strengthenéd because the "only connectionﬂ
that Red River had with civilizmation was through American territory.39

However, the people of Red River sgemed to give little thousght
to the political impliéations of the St., Paul route as the spring
trade opened in 1870, Negotiations with Canada were nearing their con-
clusion, and there was reason to believe that the political destiny of
Red River was more or less settled. The main concern.for many people
was to get thé economy of the Settlemént moving again. During the
metis rgsistance, the trade of the Hudson's Bay Company had been

stopped. The economic consequences for Red River had been serious,

38, A.H.B.C., D. 10/1, Mactavish to J. Howe, May 1L, 1870,

39. Ibid.
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There was a desperate need to open the fur trade with the Indians,
take the furs to St., Paul, and to return with food and other
supplies, Therefore, early in April Riel had permitted the Hudson's
Bay Company to resume business, and had declared that the public |
highways were open.ho

The St. Paul route had also been opened to travel and trade,
Merchants in Red River were showing new signs of energy aftér the long,
troublesome winter, The New Nation was hopeful that the first brigade

of Red River carts would soon leave for St, Paul.Al On May 4, 1870,

the International left Fort Garry to take the first cargo of furs to

Georgetown. That summer was to see the steamboat making regular
trips on the navigable part of the Red, Once more furs and buffalo
robes were being transported by the St. Paul route to the markets of
St Paul and London. By July the transportation firm of J. J. Hill
in St. Paul had received consignmegﬁs of Red River furs amounting to
about one hundred thousand <riellar$v.l‘2 Agricultural implements were
again being purchased in St, Paul., On one trip the carts of A, G. B,
Bannatype and Alexander Begg arrived from St. Cloud with thirty

43

ploughs, Thus trade between Red River and St. Paul had taken on the

4O, E. E, Rich, Hudson's Bay Company: 1670-1870, III (Toronto,
1960), p. 930.

41. New Nation, May 6, 1870.
42, Ibid., July 16, 1870.

L3. Ibid., July 30, 1870.



130.

well known rhythm of the 1860's.,

But by the fall of 187O,Ithe trans-border trade was being carried
on in a new context. The Red River Settlement had legally become a
part of Manitoba on July 15, 1870. But practically the province of
Manitoba was confirmed by the arrival in Red Riyer of Colonel Garnet
Wolseley's expedition on August 23, and Adams Gf Archibald, the
Lieutenant-Governor of Manitoba, on September 3. Politically, the
Red River Settlement had been joine@ to Canada. But the economic ties
of_the n¢W‘province'of Manitoba were still, for the most part, with
St. Paul. Therefore, one of the legacies that Manitoba inherited from
the Red River Settlement was the 3t. Paul route, Because this route
had remained an economic comnection, there was no need to disrupt
these commerc¢ial relations., In fact, they were vitally essential to
Manitoba until a Canadian railway reached the West, But if the polit-
ical union with Canada was to be a lasting one, then Manitoba would
have to be drawn into an east—-west trade. It was no wonder, then, that
Governor Archibald announced that "new routes of communication" would
soon be opened to the first province in the West. It is true that
this promise was not to be realized immediately. Bﬁt with the announ-
cement of Governor Archibald, the history of the communications of Red

River had entered a new phase,

Lo A.H.B.Co, A, 11/99, A. G. Archibald to the Council of Assiniboia,
September 6, 1870,
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CONCLUSION

In conclusion it may be said that the St, Paul route was of
considerable importance to the Red River Settlement from 1859 to 1870,
The geography of the Red River valley and the development of the
American West had operated to make the southern route the main channel
of communications of Red River with other parts of the world. In the
first place, the people of Red River used this route to travel to the
United States, Canada, and Britain. The few Canadian and American
immigrants had come to Red River by way of St, Paul during these
years., Secénd, the mails to and from the Red River Settlement were
dependent on the United States mail service which had been extended “
to Pembina. Third, and perhaps most important, was the fact that St.
Paul had become the economic outlet for the setflers and traders of
Red River and for the Hudson's Bay Company.

It is significant that ﬁhe Hudson's Bay Company was better able
to sustain itself commercially because of this supply route through
St, Paul., The commercial strength of the Company prevented and dis-
couraged American traders from overrunning the British Northwest in
great numbers, Furthermore, in these years thg former alliance of
the Red River free traders and the Amerigan tragers against the

Hudson's Bay Company largely disappeared. Instead, the interests of
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the Company and the private traders of Red River were merged in'the.
commnon effort to help the Red River Settlement to survive economi-
cally. The St. Paul route was really an example where the Hudson's Bay
Company and the Red River people mutually drew on each other's
resources., During most of the time the people of the Settlement found
employment in carting to St. Paul for the Company; they were also
able to have their freight carried on the Company's steamboat when it
was running. On the other hand, the Hudson's Bay Company actually
came to depend on the Red River carts for transportation.

But if a good relationship was noticeable between the people of
Red Riwver and the Hudson's Bay Company, then friendly relations also
prevailea between St. Paul and Red River.‘ The St., Paul merchants were
not indifferent to the trans-border trade. Moreover, in St. Paul there
was usually a general sympathy to the probléms and difficulties of the
British colony to the north. The people of Red River felt indebted
to their southern neighbours for the communications Qf the Settlement
through American territory and for the trade with St. Paul. These
factors were the essence of the link between the two communities in
this periodf

The St, Paul route had helped to draw Red River out of its iso-
lation to some degree. However, the St. Paul connection had not
caused the peqple in Red River to forget their allegiance to the

British Crown. That this allegiance had been sorely tried is true.
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But this had not resulted from an admiration of the Red River people
for the institutions of the United States. The seeming uncerbainty
as to which way the allegiance of Red River would turn was more a
result of the internal political cdnfusion of the Settlement. This
confusion, of course, had stemmed from the indifferent attitude of
Britain, and from the unfortunate way in which the transfer of
Rupert's Land to Canada had been worked out.

Finally, the Red River Settlement had been helped to realize union
with Canada partly by the fact that the St. Paul route had remained
an economic connection. And after 1870, the implications of the
commercial ties of Red River withvSt. Paul were no longer the problem
of a neglected British colony. This had become a matter that the
pro&ince of Manitoba was to work oul with the federal govermment of

Canada.
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KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS USED IN NOTES

AH.B.C. Archives of Hudson's Bay Company
M.HeS, Mimnesota Hisbtorical Soclety
P,A.C. Public Archives of Canada

P AM, Public Archives of Manitoba
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